# Getting Started Guide

Crystal Reports<sup>®</sup> for Peachtree<sup>®</sup>



#### **Registration and Technical Support Information**

To purchase a Peachtree Support plan: Peachtree Software Web site 1-800-336-1420 www.peachtree.com

#### Copyright

Information in this document is subject to change without notice. Company names, and data used in examples herein are fictitious unless otherwise noted. No part of this document may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means without the express written permission Best Software SB, Inc.

© 2003 Best Software, SB, Inc. All Rights Reserved. Printed in USA

Crystal Reports for Peachtree Getting Started Guide Third Edition, April 2003

This document, the associated software, and the associated online documentation are the property of Best Software, SB, Inc., and are loaned to the user under the terms of the Limited Use License Agreement. Unauthorized copying or use of the software or any associated materials is contrary to the property rights of Best Software and is a violation of state and federal law. This material must be returned to Best Software upon demand.

#### Trademarks

Peachtree, Peachtree Software, the Peachtree logo, Peachtree Complete, and Peachtree First Accounting are registered trademarks of Best Software, SB, Inc. Peachtree Premium Acounting is a trademark of Best Software, SB, Inc.

Microsoft, MS-DOS, Windows, Windows NT, Windows ME, the Windows logo, and the Internet Explorer logo are either registered trademarks or trademarks of Microsoft Corporation in the United States and/or other countries. Crystal Decisions, Crystal, Crystal Reports, Crystal Enterprise, Seagate Info, Seagate, Seagate Software, and the Seagate and Crystal logos are registered trademarks or trademarks of Crystal Decisions, Inc., and/or Seagate Technology, Inc. AnswerWorks is a trademark of WexTech, Inc. WinZip is a registered trademark of WinZip Computing, Inc.

Other product names mentioned may be service marks, trademarks, or registered trademarks of their respective companies and are hereby acknowledged. For current and complete trademark information and legal notices, refer to the "Legal Notices" section of Peachtree Online Help.

Portions of this program: © 1997-2003WexTech, Inc. © 1990-2003 InstallShield Software, Inc.

# • Table of Contents •

### Chapter 1 Introduction

### Chapter 2 Previewing Crystal Reports

Standard Crystal Reports, Version 9	14
Aged Payables	14
Aged Receivables	14
Customer Balance Graph	15
Customer Detail List	15
Customer Sales by Item	16
Customer Sales by Month	16
Inventory Labels.	16
Items Sold by Month	17
Purchases by Unit Price.	17
Vendor Balance Graph	18
Vendor Detail List	18
Void Check Register	19
Previewing Crystal Reports	19
Set Up Reports to Appear in Preview Mode	19
A Note about Printing Standard Crystal Reports	20

#### Chapter 3 **Designing Crystal Reports: A Tutorial**

Overview	24
Data Dictionaries	24
Data Dictionary Files (DDFs)	25
Tables and Links	25

	Using JrnlHdr and JrnlRow Tables	26
	How to Add Tables and Make Links	26
	Lesson 1—Modifying Inventory Labels to Create Price Tags	
	Use "Save As" to Create a Working Version of the Report	
	Modify the Labels to Create Price Tags	
	Review of Lesson 1	
	Lesson 2—Designing a Customer Contact List	40
	Select the Report Database	
	Select and Insert Fields	
	Title and Preview the Report	
	Review of Lesson 2	52
	Lesson 3—Designing a Quotes Good Through List	53
	Use the Report Wizard to Build the Report	53
	Filter the Report.	64
	Review of Lesson 3	68
Chapter 4	Upgrading Crystal Reports to Peachtree 2004	
•	Overview	
	Join Type	
	Relative Datapath	
	Repository Explorer	
	Upgrading to Peachtree 2004 Using Crystal Reports for	
	Peachtree Version 9.	
	Verify and Set Data Source Location	
	Upgrading to Peachtree 2004 Using Crystal Reports for	
	Peachtree Version 8.	
	Verify the Database	77
	Map Unmapped Fields	78
	Relink Database Tables	
	Replacing Old Report Functions in Crystal Reports for	
	Peachtree Version 9.	
	Copy the New Function and Paste into the Custom Formula	
	• *	
Chapter 5	Linking Report Tables in Version 9	
	Overview	
	Peachtree Report Tables and Linking Fields	
	Audit Trail	
	Chart	
	Company.	
	Cost Code	
	Customer.	
	Employee.	
	General.DAT Tables	
	General AP	
	General AR	
	General GL	

Peachtree Report Tables (Continued)
Jobs
JrnlHdr
JrnlRow
LineItem
Raise History
Tax Authority
Tax_Code
Ticket
Vendor

### Appendix Filtering Report Data

Overview	94
Filtering Reports Using Specific Fields	94
The JrnlRow Table	94
RowNumber	94
RowType	95
Journal	96
The JrnlHdr Table	96
Filtering Reports to Eliminate Null Values.	97
Selection Formulas for Filtering Out Null Values	97
In Summary	98

Table of Contents Crystal Reports for Getting Started Guide

## Introduction

# 1

### Overview

What's in This Guide	<u>2</u>
Installing Crystal Reports for Pe	eachtree
Install the Evaluation Version of	

instant the Evaluation version of	
Crystal Reports	<u>3</u>
Install the Permanent Version of	
Crystal Reports	<u>4</u>
Install Crystal Reports for Peachtree	<u>5</u>
Install Adobe Acrobat Reader	<u>5</u>
Display the User's Guide or Getting	
Started Guide	<u>5</u>
Following Installation	5

### The Standard Crystal Reports

Version 8 Standard Reports	<u>6</u>
Version 9 Standard Reports	<u>6</u>
Where the Reports are Stored	<u>Z</u>
How to Access the Reports	<u>8</u>

### Using Crystal Reports in a Network

Special Network Conditions	<u>10</u>
Limit Access to One User	<u>11</u>

### Introduction •

### **Overview**

1

Crystal Reports for Peachtree is a special version of the popular Crystal Reports<sup>®</sup> report writer designed to work with Peachtree. The program is powerful yet flexible, letting you customize reports using virtually any of the information available in your company database.

Crystal Reports for Peachtree comes with several predesigned reports that small businesses find useful. If you want to design your own reports, the program automates the design process, providing a Report Expert that will guide you step by step. But for those special cases where a report requires a unique design, the Report Designer lets you put together text (such as headers or titles), maps or graphs, images (such as company logos), and of course database elements just as you want them to appear on the printed report. Then you can preview the report to make sure it looks as you expect.

### What's in This Guide

The *Crystal Reports for Peachtree Getting Started Guide* includes the following sections:

**Chapter 1: Introduction** This chapter contains installation instructions, a program overview, a brief description of the twelve standard Crystal reports, and a section devoted to using the program in a network environment.

**Chapter 2: Previewing Crystal Reports** This provides a discussion and illustration of the standard reports included with the program. It also tells you how to preview these reports using the Crystal Viewer.

**Chapter 3: Designing Crystal Reports: A Tutorial** This briefly describes the Crystal Report Designer and discusses how Crystal reports incorporate your Peachtree database information. Then we walk you through the process of modifying and designing Crystal reports:

- In Lesson 1 you learn how to change the Crystal inventory labels into price tags.
- In Lesson 2 you learn how to create a customer contact list from scratch.
- In Lesson 3 you learn how to use the Crystal Report Expert to design a list of customer quotes filtered by expiration date.

**Chapter 4: Upgrading Crystal Reports to Version 9** This includes instructions that will help you make sure your Version 8 Crystal custom reports work in Version 9 and in Peachtree 2004.

**Chapter 5: Linking Report Tables in Crystal Reports** Because Version 8 and Version 9 of Crystal Reports Smart Link tables differently, this chapter discusses the tables used in generating Crystal reports and fields that should be used to link them in Version 9.

**Appendix: Filtering Report Data** Finally, here you'll learn which tables and fields are especially useful in building Crystal reports. You'll also learn how to filter reports to eliminate the return of null values in report data.



The guide you are reading is only a supplement to the *Crystal Reports User's Guide*, which comes with the Crystal Reports for Peachtree program, either in a printed or online (PDF) version. For detailed information on working with the program, consult this guide. When additional information is available in the *Crystal Reports User's Guide*, we will cross-reference it. The Crystal Reports for Peachtree program also comes with an extensive online Help system (referred to in this guide as Crystal Reports Online Help), and we will occasionally reference this online Help as well. So be sure to watch for cross-references as you read.

### **Installing Crystal Reports for Peachtree**

Following are brief instructions for installing both the evaluation version and permanent version of Crystal Reports for Peachtree. For more information on installation, refer to the *Crystal Reports User's Guide*.

### Install the Evaluation Version of Crystal Reports

If you own Peachtree Accounting or Peachtree Complete Accounting, the Peachtree installation CD comes with an evaluation copy of Crystal Reports for Peachtree. This version can be used for thirty days after installation, at which time you must upgrade to the permanent version in order to keep working with Crystal Reports.

Use the following procedure to install Crystal Reports.

1 Insert the Peachtree installation compact disc in your CD-ROM drive.

The Crystal Reports Autorun window automatically appears.

2 Click the **Crystal Reports for Peachtree** install option.

If the Peachtree Autorun window does not automatically appear, do the following: From the Windows **Start** menu, select **Run**. Type **x:autorun** and press **Enter** (where x: is your CD-ROM drive designation).

**3** Follow the prompts to install Crystal Reports for Peachtree.

I

The Select Installation Type window lets you choose either a typical or custom installation of Crystal Reports. Generally, you will want to choose the **Typical** option, but for more information on custom installation, refer to the *Crystal Reports User's Guide*, the section on installation.

🕞 Crystal Reports for Peachtree Setup
Select Installation Type Select the desired installation type.
The most common application features will be installed. This option is recommended for most users.
 Restination Folder
C:\Program Files\Crystal Decisions\Crystal Reports for Peachtree\

You can accept the. default destination folder for installing Crystal Reports for Peachtree or use the **Browse** button to select a different one.

> The default installation path (destination folder) for the program is C:\Program Files\Crystal Decisions\Crystal Reports for Peachtree. However, you can change this path if desired during installation. In the Select Installation Type window, use the **Browse** button to choose another installation path.

- **4** When finished with the Select Installation Type window, click the **Next** button to continue.
- 5 Once installation is complete, click the **Finish** button to close the window.

### **Install the Permanent Version of Crystal Reports**

If you own Peachtree Premium Accounting or Peachtree Premium Accounting Accountants' Edition, your Peachtree installation CD includes the permanent version of Crystal Reports for Peachtree. No upgrading will be necessary except for upgrading to new releases of the software.

Besides Crystal Reports, the Peachtree installation CD allows you to install PDF versions of the Crystal Reports for Peachtree *User's Guide* and *Getting Started Guide*. Since these PDF files require Adobe Acrobat Reader, the CD includes as well a copy of Release 5 of Adobe Acrobat Reader

### **Install Crystal Reports for Peachtree**

1 Insert Peachtree installation compact disc in your CD-ROM drive.

The Peachtree Autorun window automatically appears.

- 2 Click the Crystal Reports for Peachtree install option.
- **3** Follow steps 3 through 5 under <u>"Install the Evaluation Version of Crystal</u> <u>Reports" on page 3</u>.

### Install Adobe Acrobat Reader

To display and use the Crystal Reports PDF documents, you must have Adobe Acrobat 5 (or higher) installed on your computer. Adobe Acrobat Reader can be installed from the Crystal Reports installation CD or downloaded for free at <a href="http://www.adobe.com">www.adobe.com</a>.

Use the following procedure to install Adobe Acrobat Reader from the CD.

1 Insert the Peachtree installation compact disc in your CD-ROM drive.

The Peachtree Autorun window automatically appears.

- 2 Click the Adobe Acrobat Reader install option.
- **3** Follow the prompts to install Adobe Acrobat Reader.

### Display the User's Guide or Getting Started Guide

To display the two PDF documents provided on the installation CD:

1 Insert the Peachtree installation compact disc in your CD-ROM drive.

The Peachtree Autorun window automatically appears.

- 2 In Windows Explorer, browse to the \Doc folder on the CD. The two guides are in this folder.
- **3** Double-click a document to open it in Adobe Acrobat Reader.

### Following Installation...

Once the Crystal Reports for Peachtree program is installed, you can launch it directly—either from the icon on your desktop or from the Windows **Start** menu—to design, edit, and print all types of reports required by your business. For added convenience, you can also access the program while working in Peachtree. See the illustration of the Peachtree **Reports** menu on page <u>8</u>.

1

### **The Standard Crystal Reports**

### **Version 8 Standard Reports**

Crystal Reports for Peachtree Version 8 comes with six standard, predesigned reports.

- **Customer Detail List**—This lists a variety of formatted detail information about your customers.
- **Customer Sales by Item**—This lists stock items your company has sold in the current accounting period and the customers who have bought them. The list is sorted by item rather than by customer.
- **Inventory Labels**—These are for marking inventory items so they can be stocked in their proper location. The labels print on standard 3 across x 10 down label forms.
- **Purchases by Unit Price**—This lists, for the current accounting period, unit prices of stock and non-stock items you have purchased and the vendors who sold them. The list is sorted by item rather than by vendor.
- Vendor Detail List—This lists a variety of formatted detail information about your vendors.
- Void Check Register—This shows only your company checks, for the current accounting period, that have been voided.

### **Version 9 Standard Reports**

Crystal Reports for Peachtree Version 9 comes with six additional, predesigned reports. Each of these reports has the marker "v9" in the report name (for example, "Aged Payables v 9") to indicate the version number. In fact, in Version 9, all twelve reports will have the "v9" marker since all will be in Version 9 format.

- **Aged Payables**—This shows a total of aged payables by vendor. It also includes basic information for each vendor taken from the Peachtree vendor record.
- **Aged Receivables**—This shows a total of aged receivables by customer. It also includes basic information for each customer taken from the Peachtree customer record.
- **Customer Balance Graph**—This is a bar graph that shows balances by customer. It also includes basic information for each customer taken from the Peachtree customer record.

- **Customer Sales by Month**—This lists all customers of your company alphabetically and lists amounts sold to them by month. The report is displayed in spreadsheet form and is taken from the data contained in the Peachtree Sales Journal.
- Items Sold by Month—This lists, alphabetically by ID, all stock items sold by your company each month. The report is displayed in spreadsheet form and is taken from the data contained in the Peachtree Sales Journal.
- Vendor Balance Graph—This is a bar graph that shows balances by vendor. It also includes basic information for each vendor taken from the Peachtree vendor record.

### Where the Reports Are Stored

When you install the Crystal Reports for Peachtree program, these twelve reports are automatically copied to all of your company subdirectories. So, for example, if you have five companies in Peachtree, the standard reports will be copied to each of the five company subdirectories. In addition, a Zip file containing the twelve standard reports is automatically copied to your Peachw/Reports directory; the name of this file is REPORTS.ZIP.

If you alter or delete the original standard reports, you can always Unzip this file and copy the reports to your company subdirectory, where you'll be able to access them in Peachtree. In order to Unzip the file, you will need a copy of the WinZip<sup>®</sup> program installed on your computer. You can download an evaluation version of the program from the Internet at <u>www.winzip.com</u>.



When you create custom reports or when you download new standard reports from the Peachtree Web site, you *must* always copy them to your company subdirectories before you can work with them in Peachtree.

### How to Access the Reports

new one.

1

As with all Peachtree reports, you can access the standard Crystal reports from both the **Reports** menu...



Crystal Report Designer

...and from the Select a Report window, shown below listing standard Crystal reports with Version 8 of Crystal Reports for Peachtree installed.

😨 Select a Report 📃 🗔 🗙			
Close Group Delete Print	Preview Design Styles Copy Excel	- 🏈 Help	
Report <u>A</u> rea:	Report List:	Report Description:	
Accounts Receivable	🗐 Customer Detail List	Lists detail information for each	
Accounts Payable	<ul> <li>Customer Sales by Item</li> <li>Inventory Labels</li> </ul>	Customers/Prospects, including sales and payment information.	
🛛 🥌 Payroll	Purchases by Unit Price		
🧳 General Ledger	<ul> <li>Vendor Detail List</li> <li>Void Check Register</li> </ul>		
Financial Statements			
inventory			
Dob Reports			
Kaccount Reconciliation			
Crystal Reports			
Report Groups			

The window looks like this if you have Version 9 of Crystal Reports installed. Note that Version 9 standard reports are marked with a "v9." (Note also that Version 8 standard reports existed in the company folder before the installation of Version 9, so these Version 8-format reports remain and *aren't* marked "v 9.")



You can select a Crystal report from the **Report List** just as you would any Peachtree report. If you right-click on a selected Crystal report in the list, you will see a popup menu featuring **Print**, **Preview**, **Design**, and **What's This?** Help options.

<u>P</u> rint Pre⊻iew <u>D</u> esign
Exce <u>l</u> Save <u>A</u> s
D <u>e</u> lete
<u>W</u> hat's This?

- For more information on using the **Print** option, look up "Print dialog box" in the Crystal Reports Online Help index. See also the "Introduction to Reporting" chapter in the *Crystal Reports User's Guide*.
- For information on using the **Preview** option, see <u>"Previewing Crystal</u> <u>Reports" on page 19</u> of this guide.

- For more information on using the **Design** option, look up "Design tab" in the Crystal Reports Online Help index. See also the "Introduction to Reporting" chapter in the *Crystal Reports User's Guide*.
- For more information on selecting reports and working in the Peachtree Select a Report window, see the *Peachtree User's Guide*, the "Reports" chapter.



*Important:* If you are using Crystal Reports for Peachtree Version 8 but have upgraded to Peachtree 2004, you will need to upgrade your custom reports to work with Peachtree. Similarly, if you have upgraded to Crystal Reports for Peachtree Version 9 for use with Peachtree 2004, you will have to upgrade any custom reports created in Version 8 before you can work with them in Peachtree. For information on upgrading custom reports, see the "Upgrading Crystal Reports to Peachtree 2004" chapter in this guide.

### **Using Crystal Reports in a Network**

If you are working in a network environment, special conditions apply for the Crystal Reports for Peachtree program.

### **Special Network Conditions**

**The program must be installed on all machines** The program needs to be installed on all networked machines where it will be used; *the program will not work properly if installed on and accessed from a central server*.



Consult your license agreement for information about the number of machines on which Crystal Reports can be installed.

So that more than one person can have access to Peachtree data and Crystal reports, you *can* copy these to a central server. Say you store your Peachtree data on drive E on the server. The data path to your Peachtree data is E:\PEACHW\DATA, and the data path to your company data is E:\PEACHW\<COMPANY>, where <COMPANY> is the name of the folder where your company files are located. Into this folder you should copy all Crystal reports that apply to the company.



Now all machines with access to the data path E:\PEACHW on the server will have access to both Peachtree data and Crystal reports. For more information about sharing Peachtree data in a network environment, look up "Network: About Peachtree in a Network Environment" in Peachtree Help.

**Standard Crystal reports are read-only** When Peachtree is installed, the standard Crystal reports described in this chapter are installed as read-only files in all company subdirectories. This means that anyone working in the Crystal Reports for Peachtree program will be able to preview the reports but will not be able to edit and then save them. That way, you will always have the standard reports in their original condition so you can use them as templates for custom Crystal reports.

If you are working in Crystal Reports for Peachtree and try to edit and then save a standard report, you will see an error message stating "This report could not be opened for writing. Any changes must be saved to a new file."

Crystal Re	eports for Peachtree
<b>i</b>	This report could not be opened for writing. Any changes must be saved to a new file.
	(OK)

If you want to save your changes, use the **Save As** option on the **File** menu to save the file under a new name. Once saved, this new custom report will be fully editable.

Write access is limited to the first user only When you create new custom Crystal reports based on the standard ones, you will be able to edit and save these new reports as desired. However, if more than one person is working with the same custom report in Crystal Reports for Peachtree, only the *first* user to access the report will have "write access"—that is, be able to edit and save the report. All other users will have read-only access and will be able only to view and print but not save the report, whether in preview or in design mode.

### Limit Data Access to One User

Through Maintain Users, Peachtree allows you to set up user passwords and limit access to areas of the program. If desired, you can limit access to Crystal Reports for Peachtree, at least for design purposes, to only one user. To give just one user *data* access to Crystal Reports, enter a maximum eight-character password for that user, and then select the Limit data access from Crystal Reports to this user only check box.

1

Maintain Users		×		
Close Save Delete New Help				
User ID: FMORRIS Access to Maintain Users Password: FM03446 Inactive I Limit data access from Crystal Reports to this user only				
Summary System Sales Pur	rchases 🔰 General Ledge	r Payroll Inventory		
Program Area	Control	Description		
System	Full	Read + Add + Edit + Erase		
Sales	Full	Read + Add + Edit + Erase		
Purchases	Purchases Full Read + Add + Edit + Erase			
General Ledger	Full	Read + Add + Edit + Erase		
Payroll	Full	Read + Add + Edit + Erase		
Inventory	Full	Read + Add + Edit + Erase		

Z

Now, all users will be able to preview or print a Crystal report. However, when any user tries to refresh the data in a Crystal report using the **Refresh** button in the Standard tool bar, the program will request a password. If the password entered does not match the password set up for one-user access, then the user will not be able to refresh the report data and thus potentially use different parameter values to filter the data that appears in the report.



For more information about the Maintain Users window and setting up users, click the Help button in the window. See also the *Peachtree User's Guide*, the "Company Administration" chapter. For more information about refreshing report data in Crystal, look up "Refreshing data:report data" in the Crystal Reports Online Help index.

# 2

## Previewing Crystal Reports

### **Standard Crystal Reports, Version 9**

Aged Payables	<u>14</u>
Aged Receivables	<u>14</u>
Customer Balance Graph	<u>15</u>
Customer Detail List	<u>15</u>
Customer Sales by Item	<u>16</u>
Customer Sales by Month	16
Inventory Labels	<u>16</u>
Items Sold by Month	<u>17</u>
Purchases by Unit Price	<u>17</u>
Vendor Balance Graph	<u>18</u>
Vendor Detail List	<u>18</u>
Void Check Register	<u>19</u>

### **Previewing Crystal Reports**

Set Up Reports to Appear in Preview Mode	<u>19</u>
A Note about Printing Standard Crystal Reports	<u>20</u>

### Previewing Crystal Reports

This chapter describes and illustrates the standard reports that come with the program. It also tells you how to preview reports using the Crystal Viewer and provides an overview of report printing.

### **Standard Crystal Reports, Version 9**

Version 9 of Crystal Reports for Peachtree is shipped with the following twelve reports. All standard reports shipped with Version 9 have the marker "v9" in the report name (for example, "Aged Payables v 9") to indicate the version number.

### **Aged Payables**

This report shows a total of aged payables by vendor. It also includes the following information for each vendor taken from the Peachtree vendor record:

- Vendor ID
- Vendor Name
- Contact
- Telephone (No. 1)
- Invoice/Credit Memo No.
- Aging Brackets

### **Aged Receivables**

This report shows a total of aged receivables by customer. It also includes the following information for each customer taken from the Peachtree customer record:

- Customer ID
- Customer Name
- Contact
- Telephone (No. 1)
- Invoice/Credit Memo No.
- Aging Brackets

### **Customer Balance Graph**

This bar graph shows balances by customer. It also includes basic information for each customer taken from the Peachtree customer record. The graph itself shows customer balances along the vertical axis and lists customer IDs along the horizontal axis. The following information for each customer is listed below the graph:

- Customer ID
- Customer Name
- Contact
- Telephone (No. 1)
- Customer Balance

### **Customer Detail List**

This report lists detail information about customers you have added to Peachtree through Maintain Customers/Prospects. It includes the following information for each customer:

- Customer ID and name
- Bill-to and ship-to addresses
- Contact Person
- Phone Number 1 and 2
- Fax Number
- E-mail Address
- Web Address
- Prospect (yes/no)
- Customer status (active/inactive)
- Customer Type
- Customer Since date
- Tax location
- Resale Number
- Open purchase order number
- Credit Limit
- Pricing Level
- GL Sales Account

- Sales Rep Name
- Sales terms
- Sales Tax ID
- Last Invoice Date
- Last Invoice Number
- · Last Payment Date
- Last Payment Amount
- Last Statement Date
- A listing of all custom fields

### **Customer Sales by Item**

This report lists stock items sold and the customers sold to within a selected date range. The report is sorted by item rather than by customer. It includes the following information:

- · Inventory ID and Description
- Customer ID
- Date of sale
- Invoice number
- Quantity sold

### **Customer Sales by Month**

This report lists all customers of your company alphabetically and lists amounts sold to them by month. It is based on data contained in the Peachtree Sales Journal.

The report is displayed in cross-tab or spreadsheet format. Along the vertical axis it lists customers by ID, and along the horizontal axis it lists all accounting periods covered by the report (up to 26 periods).

### **Inventory Labels**

These are labels you place on items so that they can be stocked in the proper location at your storage facility. The labels print 3 across x 10 down (30 per page) in the LL-30W laser label format available through the Peachtree Business Checks & Forms catalog. Each label lists the following information:

- Item ID
- Item description
- Vendor ID
- Location

The labels print 30 per page in the LL-30W laser label format available through the *Peachtree Business Checks & Forms* catalog.



**For ordering information,** consult the catalog or look up "Peachtree Checks and Forms" in Peachtree Help.

### **Items Sold by Month**

This report lists, alphabetically by ID, all stock items sold by your company each month. It is based on data contained in the Peachtree Sales Journal.

The report is displayed in cross-tab or spreadsheet format. Along the vertical axis it lists items by ID, and along the horizontal axis it lists all accounting periods covered by the report (up to 26 periods).

### **Purchases by Unit Price**

This report lists the unit prices of stock and non-stock items purchased and vendors purchased from within a selected date range. The report is sorted by item rather than by vendor. Use the report to check which vendors are offering the best pricing on an item.

The report includes the following information:

- Item ID and Description
- Date of purchase
- Vendor ID
- Invoice number
- Quantity
- Unit price
- Total purchase amount

### Vendor Balance Graph

This is a bar graph that shows balances by vendor. It also includes basic information for each vendor taken from the Peachtree vendor record. The graph itself shows vendor balances along the vertical axis and lists vendor IDs along the horizontal axis. The following information for each vendor is listed below the graph:

- Vendor ID
- Customer Name
- Contact
- Telephone (No. 1)
- Vendor Balance

### **Vendor Detail List**

This report lists detail information about vendors you have added to Peachtree through Maintain Vendors. It includes the following information for each vendor:

- Vendor ID and name
- Address
- Contact Person
- Fax Number
- E-mail Address
- Web Address
- Phone Number 1 and 2
- Fax Number
- Vendor Type
- Federal ID Number
- Vendor Since date
- Company account number
- Balance
- Credit Limit
- Purchase Account
- Terms
- A listing of all custom fields

### **Void Check Register**

This report lists all disbursement and payroll checks that have been voided within a selected date range. it includes the following information:

- Check number
- Void date
- Payee (employee name, vendor name, or customer name)
- Cash account
- Check amount

This report lists, alphabetically by ID, all stock items sold by your company each month. It is based on data contained in the Peachtree Sales Journal.

The report is displayed in cross-tab or spreadsheet format. Along the vertical axis it lists items by ID, and along the horizontal axis it lists all accounting periods covered by the report (up to 26 periods).

### **Previewing Crystal Reports**

The standard reports that come with Crystal Reports for Peachtree are designed to open in preview mode. This is so you can preview them when you select them either in the Peachtree Select a Report window or in Crystal Reports' Report Designer. The **Save data with report** option in the Crystal Reports **File** menu is turned on for each of the six standard reports; this is what allows them to be previewed.

### Set Up Reports to Appear in Preview Mode

If you turn off the **Save data with report** option and then save a standard report, when you open it again either in Peachtree or in Crystal Reports, the report will open in design rather than preview mode. So if you want the standard reports to open in preview mode, be sure to leave the **Save data with report** option turned on. With the option turned on, you can preview a Crystal report the same way you do other Peachtree reports.

Do one of the following:



- click the name of a Crystal report in the Select a Report window and then click the **Preview** button
- double-click the report name with the *left* mouse button

The Crystal Design window appears with the report displayed on the **Preview** tab.

😵 Crystal Reports	for Peachtree	e - [Purchases by Unit Price	v9]				_ 🗆 🗵
😐 Eile Edit View	Insert Form	<u>a</u> t <u>D</u> atabase <u>R</u> eport <u>W</u> indov	w <u>H</u> elp				_ 8 ×
🗋 🗅 😅 • 🔙 🛛	a 🖪 🖗	F   X ha 🏦 い・ロ・	📑 📰 📑 🗀 M 100%	▼ 8?			
					07 .00 00.		
]]		<u> </u>			76 t t		
ab (🗄 Σ 📾	📕 🕀 🌫 🛛	S 💴 🛍 🔮					
- 	🖉 🖉 м						
	1				3/11/2003 17:31	<b>×</b> II I I	of 1+ N N =
Design Preview	/				37172003 11:31		
Purchases b ▲     AVBY-11		1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.	1	1 * * * 3 * * * 1 * * * 4	6	6	• • • 1 • • • 7 •
AVBY-1							<u> </u>
- BOOK-1							
BOOK-1	- Dille			Ballum they Gaulan Su	u u les		
EOEE.11	PHa ·			Denweiner Garden Su	ppiy		
- EOFF-13	- PHa ·			Purchases by Ohit P	nce		
- EQFF-13				From 3/1/2007 to 3/31/	2007		
EQLW-1	PHe ·	Item ID and D	escription				
EQLW-1	-	Date	Vendor ID	Invoice No	Quantity	Unit Price	Total
EQWI-I	GH1	AVRY-10130	Bird Feeder-Plastic Hanzing				
- FERT-16	· ·	3/12/2007	44RON-01	WCM30001	-2.00	7.95	-15.90
- FERT-16		3/9/2007	AARON-01	B1015	2.00	7.95	15.90
FERT-16	GH1 ·	AVRY-10140	Thistle Bird Seed Mix-6 B.				
FERT-16	D N	3/17/2007	ANDERSON-01	VCM30002	-3.00	7.50	-22.50
MISC-20		3/14/2007	HUBER-01	HU1025	100.00	7.50	750.00
NURS-2	D ·	3/14/2007	ANDERSON-01	B1016	3.00	7.50	22.50
NURS-2	D .	3/13/2007	DEJULIO-01	AR1303	150.00	7.95	1,192.50
- NURS-2	GF1 -			Total for AVRY-10140:	250.00		1,942.50
POTS-30	GH1 o	BOOK-11000	<b>BGS Floral Reference Guide</b>				
- POTS-3		3/4/2007	MIKOS-01	VCM30006	-2.00	11.95	-23.90
- SEHB-3	GF1			Total for BOOK-11000:	-2.00		23.00
SEHB-3	GH1 .	BOOK 11899	D.(() 1 . T				-25.90
- SEHB-3:	:	BOOK-11020	DG5 Landscaping Techniques				
SEHB-3	D 4	3/4/2007	MIKOS-01	ACW30002	-3.00	11.95	-35.85
- SEVG-3.	GFT -			Total for BOOK-11020:	-3.00		-35.85
	0.00	•					
For Help, press F1						Records: 60	100%

?

**For more information on using the Crystal Reports for Peachtree Preview tab**, look up "Preview Tab" in the Crystal Reports Online Help index. See also the *Crystal Reports User's Guide*, the "Introduction to Reporting" chapter.

### A Note about Printing Standard Crystal Reports

All standard Crystal reports are set up with no default printer chosen. So when you print using either the **Print** button in the standard toolbar or the **Print** option in the **File** menu, Crystal Reports for Peachtree will display a message telling you that no printer has been configured for the current report.



- To print the report using the default printer you have set up with the Windows **Settings>Printers** option, select **Yes**.
- To print printer the report with a different printer, select No.

Print Setup		<u>.</u>
No Printer	)	
Printer		
<u>N</u> ame:	\\US_PSI_PAV_FIL1\Oce_3165	Properties
Status:	Ready	
Туре:	Canon iR5000-6000 PCL5e	
Where:	IP_10.3.50.8:print	
Comment:		
- Paper		- Orientation
Size:	Letter	Portrait
<u>S</u> ource:	Auto	A O Landscape
Network	<u>R</u> eset to Default	OK Cancel

Note that the **No Printer** check box is checked, indicating there is no printer configured for this report.

You can clear the **No Printer** check box, and then using the **Name** drop-down list, select a printer to use for printing the report. Set any other print attributes, such as double-sided printing, using the **Properties** button.



You can always reset the printer to the default one, in which case the standard Print window will appear, letting you choose a variety of print options, including a range of pages to print, the number of copies to print, and whether or not you want those copies collated.

Print			×
Printer:	System Printer (\\US_PSI_PAV_FIL1\	.Oce_3165) OK Cancel	
Print Ra	nge es rom: 1 <u>I</u> o: [	<u>C</u> opies: 1 ↓ Collate Co	÷.

## Designing Crystal Reports: A Tutorial

Overview	
Data Dictionaries	<u>24</u>
Data Dictionary Files (DDFs)	<u>25</u>
Tables and Links	<u>25</u>
Using JrnlHdr and JrnlRow Tables	<u>26</u>
How to Add Tables and Make Links	<u>26</u>
Lesson 1—Modifying Inventory	
Labels to Create Price rags	
Use "Save As" to Create a Working	21
Version of the Report	<u>21</u>
Modify the Labels to Create Price Tags	<u>33</u>
Review of Lesson 1	<u>38</u>
Lesson 2—Designing a Customer	
Contact List	
Select the Report Database	<u>40</u>
Select and Insert Fields	<u>43</u>
Title and Preview the Report	<u>48</u>
Review of Lesson 2	52
Lesson 3—Designing a Ouotes	
Good Through List	
Use the Report Wizard to Build the Report	<u>53</u>
Filter the Report	<u>64</u>
Review of Lesson 3	<u>69</u>

### • Designing Crystal Reports: A Tutorial •

### Overview

When you design a Crystal report, you have a choice of either manually selecting the elements that will go into it or of automating the design process by using Crystal Reports for Peachtree's Report Experts. Through a series of tabbed windows, the Report Experts guide you in every step of the design process. If you want to manually construct the report, Crystal's Select Expert, Formula Expert, Section Expert, and Format Editor will help you choose exactly which data elements and formatting you want to appear in the report.

Information on how to use these special features is beyond the scope of this guide. Instead, see the *Crystal Reports User's Guide*, or look up the name of the specific feature in Crystal Reports online Help. However, in this chapter we give you an introduction to some of Crystal's design features in the form of a brief tutorial that walks you through the process of designing your own Crystal reports. We also show you how to customize one of the standard reports that come with Crystal Reports for Peachtree. After completing the tutorial, you'll have a better idea of how Crystal works and how to get your reports to include the precise data and formatting you want them to.

Before we start the tutorial, we explain some terms that will help you understand how Crystal reports incorporate database information; then we tell you how to add and link database information in a Crystal report.

### **Data Dictionaries**

A *data dictionary* is a structured, simplified, and secure view of organizational data that an employee can use to create custom reports for your company. A dictionary gives the employee ready access to the data in an understandable form while ensuring control and security over your data resources, since the employee can in no way alter the original data. Using a dictionary, the employee can

- design a single, dynamic view of all the data that is necessary to create organizational reports and queries
- include multiple data sources, tables, and links
- organize the data and rename tables and fields to make it easier for company employees to understand the content and purpose of the data
- limit access to specific columns of data (for example, letting only managers see the salary column of the employee data files)

- place restriction formulas on specific rows of data (for example, allowing managers to view employee information only for those employees with a salary under \$40,000)
- create complex data-manipulation formulas that employees can access without requiring a technical grasp of the formulas

### **Data Dictionary Files (DDFs)**

Each data dictionary is made up of *data dictionary files* (DDFs). Crystal Reports for Peachtree comes with a special dictionary made up of three DDFs that contain much of the company information you would want to include in your reports. These three DDFs are called Field.DDF, Index.DDF, and File.DDF. (Note that while the program comes with *three* DDFs, you should make use of just the file called *File.DDF*—more about this below.)

In turn, each of these DDFs contains a series of subfiles with a .DAT extension. These subfiles contain a variety of company database information in the form of *fields*. For example, one .DAT file called Company.DAT contains fields that represent general information about your company, such as company name and address. Another data file called Jobs.DAT contains information about your company's jobs, including job IDs, descriptions, and start and end dates.



**For a listing of all available .DAT files and the fields they contain,** look up ".DAT Files" in Crystal Reports for Peachtree online Help.

### **Tables and Links**

Within the Crystal Reports for Peachtree program, the information contained in any of these .DAT files is available in the reports you work on. You import the information into Crystal in the form of database *tables*.

Not only can you import database information into your report, you can *link* related fields within the database tables you import. These links help you match related pieces of information for reporting purposes. For example, links can help you match a vendor to the inventory items the vendor supplies.

The following section outlines how to select and link tables used in Crystal reports. For more detailed information, see the *Crystal Reports User's Guide*, the "Understanding Databases" chapter.

### Using JrnlHdr and JrnlRow Tables

The JrnlRow table mentioned below in this chapter is the most important table you will use in building customer reports in Crystal. It is the chief primary table for Crystal reports, and reports are essentially built by linking it with secondary information containing customer, vendor, item, and job data. It contains fields that, when linked to the same field in secondary tables, allows the report to draw on appropriate Peachtree record information.

For example, as mentioned below, if the **CustomerRecordNumber** field in the JrnlRow table is linked to the same field in the Customer table, the report will be able to draw on customer transaction information. Similarly, if the **ItemRecordNumber** field in the JrnlRow table is linked to the same field in the LineItem table, the report will be able to draw on item-activity information, such as units-sold figures.

Sometimes the JrnlHdr table can serve as primary table for a report. This is true when all information needed to build the report is contained in the JrnlHdr report. For example, if you wanted to build an uncomplicated list displaying transactions in the Peachtree Payments Journal, you could do so without using JrnlRow. The JrnlHdr table contains fields for drawing amount, payee, and reference number information into the report, which is all the data needed to do the job. In most reports, however, JrnlHdr will be a secondary table linking to the JrnRow table as other secondary tables do.

### How to Add Tables and Make Links

To add linked database information to your report, follow these steps:

1 Select the Database menu, and then select Database Expert.

The Crystal Database Explorer window appears.

2 Find the **Create New Connection** folder in the list, and double-click to open it.

**3** Double-click the **Btrieve** option.

Database Expert			
Browse the data source for the tables you war (Note: to edit the alias for a table, select the table in the push the F2 key)	<b>it to add to your repo</b> 'Selected Tables' tree an	t. d click on it or	
Available Data Sources:		ected Tables:	
Heitory     Heitory     Create New Connection     Access/Excel (DAO)     Crystal Queries     Database Files     Dictionary/Infoview     ODBC (RDO)     DLE DB (ADO)     C-More Data Sources	> >>> <<		
1			
		OK	Cancel Help

- 4 Double-click the **Btrieve** option.
- **5** In the Open window, use the **Look in** drop-down list to navigate to the folder containing your Peachtree company files.

The window displays the three Crystal Reports for Peachtree DDFs.

Crystal Reports will give you three DDFs to choose from in your Peachtree company folder, but be sure always to select <i>File.DDF</i> .	Dpen History Desktop Personal Favorites	Look jn: Field.ddf File.dd Index.ddf			?×
		File <u>n</u> ame: Files of <u>type</u> :	User Default	•	<u>O</u> pen Cancel

6 Select *File.DDF*, and then select the **Open** button.



While the Open window will show all three DDFs that come with the Crystal Reports for Peachtree program, you should always select File.DDF.

7 The Database Expert window returns with the contents of the DDF displayed as a series of tables.



These tables correspond to the .DAT files mentioned above, the ones containing company database fields. For example, the Chart table contains all the company fields present in the Chart.DAT file, and the Employee table contains all the payroll fields present in Employee.DAT.

- 8 Select as many tables in the list as you want to include in the report. To select a table, do one of the following:
  - Highlight the table and click the right arrow button. ٠
  - Highlight and double-click the table.
- 9 When finished, select the **OK** button.

The **Links** tab of the Database Expert appears. All the tables you have chosen are displayed at the center of the window. If the Smart Linking feature is turned on, the Expert automatically links all fields capable of being linked. (Using the Smart Linking feature is much the easiest way to link fields, but you can do it manually if you like.)



You can make new links or dissolve old ones as explained in Crystal Reports Online Help. For more information, select the **Help** button in the Database Expert window.

The reason you link related fields across tables is so that the data represented by the fields can match up in meaningful ways within your report. For example, you would probably want to link the **CustomerRecordNumber** field in the JrnlRow database table to the **CustomerRecordNumber** field in the Customer table. This way, transaction information for each customer would be credited to the proper customer ID in the report.

10 When finished working in the Database Expert, select **OK** to close it.

Once you have made meaningful links among fields in the database tables, you are ready to insert the fields into your report. Using the Crystal Reports Field Explorer, you just plug one of the fields into the report wherever you want specific database information to appear. For example, to insert a customer ID into your report, you would select the **CustomerID** field in the Field Explorer window, then drag and drop the field into your report.





For instructions on working in the Field Explorer, select the Help button at the bottom of the window.

### We're Ready to Start the Tutorial...

Now that you understand a bit more about using Peachtree database information in Crystal Reports, we can start putting together custom reports. As mentioned at the beginning of this chapter, in Crystal Reports you have the choice of manually building a report from scratch or of letting the Crystal Report Expert step you through the process. In this tutorial, we'll do both:

- In Lesson 1 we'll customize an existing standard report, inventory labels.
- In Lesson 2 we'll design a Customer Contact List from the ground up.
- **Finally, in Lesson 3** we'll use the Report Expert to craft a Quotes by Expiration Date List.
# Lesson 1—Modifying Inventory Labels to Create Price Tags

As a warm-up exercise, we'll convert one of the standard Crystal reports. We'll turn the inventory labels into price tags that can be attached to sale merchandise.

#### Use "Save As" to Create a Working Version of the Report

Since the standard reports are read-only versions (you can't edit them in any way), we need to create an editable version of the inventory labels.

1 If Crystal Reports isn't currently running on your computer, start it now.

Welcome to Crystal Reports	×
Create a New Crystal Report Document	
C As a <u>B</u> lank Report	
Den an Existing Report	
More Files Void Check Register v9 Customer Balance Graph v9 Customer Sales by Item v9 Purchases by Unit Price v9	
Show welcome dialog at startup	
OK Cancel	<u>H</u> elp

2 Select More Files, and then navigate to the BCS folder in the Peachw directory; this is where Bellwether Garden Supply company data is located. (If Crystal Reports is already running, select **Open** in the File menu, and then navigate to the Bellwether company folder.)



**3** From the list of reports, select **Inventory Labels**.



4 The message tells you that you cannot write to (edit) the report. Click OK.

😵 Crystal Reports	for Peachtree - [Invent	tory Labels v9.rpt]			_ 🗆 🗙
Eile Edit View	Insert Form <u>a</u> t <u>D</u> ataba	ise <u>R</u> eport <u>W</u> indow <u>H</u> elp			_ 8 ×
🗅 🗳 - 🔙  -	🞒 🖪 📤 🔗   X 🗈	1 🛍 KA 🗸 CA 🤟 🔚 🔚 🔛 🖊 🛤	100% 💌 📢 ab 🕾 Σ 🕮 📲 🕒 🌫	S 💶 🏨 🔮	
	<b>Y</b>	А́∆   В <i>I</i> <u>U</u>   Е Ξ Ξ <u>≡</u>	▲ - ■	🗣 🗉 🐓 😋 🌮 👰 🖬 🗟 🧔	2 11
Design Preview	,			3/11/2003 17:19 🗙 🕅 ┥	1 of 1+ ► ► =
Inventory Label:				5	8 .
	-				
	Da .	AVRY-10050-LG-CSL	AVRY-10120	BOOK-11000	
	Db :	Prefabricated Birdhouse	Bird House-Red 12-Room Unit	BGS Floral Reference Guide	
	Do -	AARON-01	DEJULIO-01	DEJULIO-01	
	Dd	Row 9	AISLE 1	AISLE 2	
	Da .	AVRY-10050-LG-EFL	AVRY-10130	BOOK-11010	
	Db :	Prefabricated Birdhouse	Bird Feeder-Plastic Hanging	BGS Gardening Handbook	
	Dc -	AARON-01	DEJULIO-01	DEJULIO-01	
	Dd ·	Row 9	AISLE 1	AISLE 2	
	Da N	AVRY-10050-LG-HTL	AVRY-10140	BOOK-11020	
	Db .	Prefabricated Birdhouse	Thistle Bird Seed Mix-6 lb.	BGS Landscaping Techniques	
	Do -	AARON-01	DEJULIO-01	DEJULIO-01	
	Dd ·	Row 9	AISLE 1	AISLE 2	
				Do over 11000	
	Da .	AVRY-10050-LG-PYR	AVRY-10150	BOOK-11030	
	D6 .	Prefabricated Birdhouse	Bird Bath - Stone Gothic 2pc.	BGS Vegetable Garden Frimer	
	De .	AARON-01	DEJULIO-UI	DEJULIO-DI	
	Dd :	10099	AISLEI	AISLE 2	
	Da .	AVRY-10050-SM-CSL	AVRY-10200-2ft-GRN	EQFF-13100	
	Db	Prefabricated Birdhouse	Birdbath - Plastic	Fertilizer Pump Sprayer	
	Dc -	AARON-01	CLUNE-01	CLOWNEY-01	
	Dd :	Row9	Rowó	AISLE 4	
	Da .	AVRY-10050-SM-EFL	AVRY-10200-2ft-RD	EQFF-13110	
	Db :	Prefabricated Birdhouse	Birdbath - Plastic	Fertilizer Compression Sprayer	
	Do	AARON-01	CLUNE-01	CLOW NEY-01	
	Dd	Row9	Rowó	AISLE 4	
		4 VD V 10050 CM 1777	4 VDV 10200 24 WIFTE	FOFF 13128	
For Help, press F1				Records: 140	100% //.



**5** To save the report in editable form, from the **File** menu, select **Save As**.

- 6 In the File name box, enter "Price Tags." Then select Save.
- 7 Finally, before starting on the next part of the project, *close* the report and then *reopen* it.

#### Modify the Labels to Create Price Tags

We're now ready to start working on our new creation.

1 Select the **Design** tab.

& Crystal Reports for Peachtree - [Price Tags.rpt]					
🖭 Eile Edit View Insert	t Form <u>a</u> t <u>D</u> atabase <u>R</u> eport <u>W</u> indow <u>H</u> elp				
] D 🖻 • 🖬 🎒 🖪	🛓 🔗   X 🖬 🛍 ю - е -   🏣 🖿	🚰 📑 👬 100% 💽 א? 📄 ab (Ξ Σ 🖽 🛔	B 🗠 🌫 🖾 🖬 🛍 🖉		
	▼		양 앱 📙 🏎 🗷 🐎 😫 🔗 🌆 🖬 🖷 🖪		
Design Preview			× 14 ·		
		3	6 7		
Report Header	D D				
Page Header	D Pltem ID Range				
Details a	D ItemID	TiemID	TtemID		
Details b	D ItemDescription	ItemDescription	ItemDescription		
Details c	D VendorID	VendorID	VendorID		
Details d	D Location	Location	Location		
Report Footer	D				
	<b>b</b>				
Page Footer	D A				
	Ď				

- 2 We won't need the **Vendor ID** or **Location** fields, so place the cursor in the gray area that reads "Details d" and right click.
- **3** From the pop-up menu, select **Delete Section**.



Working with report sections is an important concept but is beyond the scope of this guide. For more information, see the *Crystal Reports User's Guide*, the "Introduction to Reporting" chapter.

4 We want to keep the section marked "Details c," so just select the **Vendor ID** field.

An object frame appears around the field, and the cursor turns into a cross with four arrowheads. The field is now editable.

Details c	
-----------	--

**5** Right click, and from the pop-up menu, select **Delete**.

Select the Field Explorer button in the Standard toolbar.

The field is deleted.

---

6



7 Double-click the Database Fields folder to open it, and then double-click the LineItem table to open it.

8 Find the **PriceLevel1Amount** field; select it; and drag it into the Detail c section. Release the mouse button. You can close the Field Explorer window.

🔆 Crystal Reports for Peachtree - [Price Tags.rpt]					
🖭 Eile Edit View Inser	t Form <u>a</u> t <u>D</u> atabase <u>R</u> eport <u>W</u> indow <u>H</u> elp				
] 🗅 🐸 • 🖬 🕼 🖪	. 🕭 🔣   🌡 🛍 🛍 🗠 🔹 🗠 -   🔚 🎟 🔮 🕻	🗅 🚧 100% 🔽 📢 ab (8 Σ 🖽 🛃 🕞 🗺 🖾 🕼 💇			
Arial	▼ 10 ▼ <b>4 8</b> <i>I</i> <u>U</u> ≡ ≡	ᆿ ☰   ▲ • ≌ • ☞ 墫 噌   \$  , % 양 양     ∿ 글   ≫ 않 &   정 책 후			
Design Preview		×			
	1 1	• • • 3 • • • 1 • • • 4 • • • 1 • • • 5 • • • 1 • • • 6 • • • 1 • • • 7 • • • 1 • • • 8			
Report Header	444				
Page Header	D [?tem ID Range				
Details a	D ItemID	liemID			
Details b	D ItemDescription	ItemDescription			
Details c	PriceLevel1Amount	jel 1 Amouni			
Report Footer					
Page Footer					

- **9** Now we want to modify the font used for the **Description** field. Select the field, and then right mouse click.
- **10** From the pop-up menu that appears, select **Format Field**.

The Format Editor window appears with the **Font** tab selected.

Format Editor
Common Border Font Paragraph Formatting Hyperlink
Eont:     Times New Roman (Western)     X2       Style:     Bold     X2       Size:     10     X2       Color:     Black     X2
Effects:
Character spacing exactly: 0 pts
Sample: XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX
OK Cancel <u>H</u> elp

**11** From the **Style** drop-down list, select **Bold**.

- 12 When finished, select OK.
- **13** Now let's change the font of the **PriceLevel1Amount** field. Select it, and right mouse click. Select **Format Field**.
- **14** Select the **Font** tab of the Format Editor, and use the **Font** drop-down list to select **Arial** (or some other sans serif font you fancy more).
- 15 Use the Style drop-down list to select Bold.
- **16** Use the **Size** drop-down list to select **16** points.
- 17 Use the Color drop-down list to select Red. When finished, select OK.



ab

- **18** With the **PriceLevel1Amount** field still selected, click the **Align Left** button in the Standard Toolbar at the top of the window.
- 19 Next we want to insert an "Our Price" marker. Select the Insert Text Object button in the Standard toolbar, and then drag the object frame to the far left side of the Detail c section. (We'll discuss object frames in further detail in the next lesson.)

😵 Crystal Reports for	Peachtree - [Price Tags-rpt]				
E Cin Est Seen D	oost Farmal Quitabaos Espart Mindow Help				in the second
	国内を注意のないないな言語	DI M 1004 -	N IIII	a an ar an ar Al	*
Avial		A - E	- 世通通軍 + %	02 90 Z 1	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Design Perview					24.14
a straight the second of	A STORESTICK				
Report Header	0				
Page Header	D Ten D Range				
Details a	David	health		heat?	
Details 8	2-Intel Contription	In Description		TeracDescription	
Dataits ::	P ell Amount		evell Amount	-	vellAmour[
Heport Foster	999				
Page Foster	000				

- **20** Click once to place the frame in the section.
- **21** A text cursor appears at the right side of the object frame. Type in the following: "Our Price: \$."
- **22** Select the object frame, and then right click. From the pop-up menu select **Format Field**. Now make the font settings exactly as in steps 11 through 16.

**23** The text will probably appear a bit cut off at the bottom, so select the bottom frame handle (the small black square at the top of the frame), and drag it downward until you can see the text plainly.

Select the frame \_\_\_\_\_ handle to change the size of a frame. The cursor will turn to a double-headed arrow.



24 Select the object frame, and move it up so that it more or less aligns with the **PriceLevel1Amount** field.

Details c	Our PricePriceLevel1

25 To make more precise adjustments, we need to go to the **Preview** tab.

😵 Crystal Report	s for Peachtree - [Pric	:e Tags.rpt]					<u>_     ×</u>
Eile Edit View	v Insert Form <u>a</u> t Data	abase <u>R</u> eport <u>W</u> indow <u>H</u> elp					_ 8 ×
🗅 🐸 • 🖬	🖨 🖪 🖄 🔗   X	🗈 🛍 🗠 🔹 🗠 📲 🧰 😰 I	<b>□  #</b> 100%	- <b>k?</b> ab 🕾 Σ 🛲 🗐	🖻 🛣 📉 🖬	z 🏨 👰	
	-	• <b>4</b> 4 <b>B</b> <i>I</i> <u>U</u> <b>E E</b>			양 안 🛛 🛰	🖻 🐎 😋 🌮 🦓 🕺 🕫 📓	月 🐍 🖩
Design Preview	N					Today 19:33 🗙 🔌	( 1 of 1+ ► ► =
Price Tags.rpt			2	3 4		6	
	:						
						D. 0. 017 1 1 000	
	Da .	AVRY-10050-LG-CSL		AVKY-10120 Bird Hanas Bad 12 Baam Had		BOOK-11000 BOS Flow   Bofemano Carida	
	<u>DB</u> -	Prelaoncated Birdhouse		Bird House-Ked 12-Koom Uni	u 	BGS Floral Reference Guide	LineItem.ItemID (String)
	:	Our Price:	79.99	Our Price:	89.99	Our Price:	12.95
	<u>;</u>						
	Da .	AVRY-10050-LG-EFL		AVRY-10130		BOOK-IIUIU	
	Db .	Prefabricated Birdhouse		Bird Feeder-Plastic Hanging		BGS Gardening Handbook	
	Dc -	Our Price:	79.99	Our Price:	19.99	Our Price:	29.95
	Da .	AVRY-10050-LG-HTL		AVRY-10140		BOOK-11020	
	Db :	Prefabricated Birdhouse		Thistle Bird Seed Mix-6 lb.		BGS Landscaping Techniques	
	Dc -	Our Price:	79.99	Our Price:	19.99	Our Price:	29.95
	:						
	Da .	AVRY-10050-LG-PYR		AVRY-10150		BOOK-11030	
	Db :	Prefabricated Birdhouse		Bird Bath - Stone Gothic 2pc.		BGS Vegetable Garden Primer	
	Dc -	Our Price:	79.99	Our Price:	129.99	Our Price:	12.95
	Da 7	AVRY-10050-SM-CSL		AVRY-10200-2ft-GRN		EQFF-13100	
	Db :	Prefabricated Birdhouse		Birdbath - Plastic		Fertilizer Pump Sprayer	
	Do	Our Price:	59.99	Our Price:	39.99	Our Price:	49.99
	:						
	<u> </u>						

26 Our labels look pretty good already, but first we need to expand the "Our Price" object frame so that the dollar sign shows, making sure that there is a slight space between the "Our Price" object frame and the PriceLevel1Amount object frame. Select the first "Our Price" object frame in the window. When the frame handles appear, click on the one at the right side of the frame, and drag the frame to the right.



27 The "Our Price" field is rather far away from the dollar sign, so let's close up the space. Select the PriceLevel1Amount field (in the illustration above, it would be the 129.99 value). When the object frame appears, click the Align Left button in the standard toolbar at the top of the window.

Compare this \_ illustration with the one above. Note that the **129.99** value has moved to the left as a result of left alignment.

	Da	AVRY-10100	EQFF-13100	
I	Db	Bird House Kit	Fertilizer Pump Spray	er
	Dc	Our Price: \$129.99	Our Price: \$	49.99

This way, if the **PriceLevel1** field has a large value in it (1,000.00 or more), the field will expand to the *right* to accommodate the longer string of numbers. Our price tags are now complete.

28 Finally, from the File menu, select Save As, and save the report under the name "Price Tags."

# **Review of Lesson 1**

Let's review some of the ideas we covered in Lesson 1:

- Since the standard reports that come with Crystal Reports for Peachtree are read-only, if you want to customize one of the reports, you must first save it under a new filename.
- When you are working with data fields within a report, select them and right click to see a pop-up menu that lets you format, delete, and copy fields, as well as perform other functions.
- To insert data fields, use the Field Explorer button in the Standard toolbar. To insert text fields, use the Insert Text Object button in the same toolbar.

- To move a field, first select it. The cursor will change into a cross with four arrowheads, indicating that you can now manipulate the frame. To move the frame, simply drag and drop it.
- To expand or contract an object frame, select the frame; click the appropriate frame handle (at either right, left, top, or bottom of the frame); and then drag and release the frame.

# Lesson 2—Designing a Customer Contact List

The second lesson covers the design of a contact list you can use to help keep track of your customer base. It will list customer company name, contact name, and phone.

#### Select the Report Database

First we need to select the tables whose database information we'll use to build the report.

1 If Crystal Reports isn't currently running on your computer, start it now. (If Crystal Reports is already running, select New in the File menu.).

Welcome to Crystal Reports
Create a New Crystal Report Document
Subject to the second temperature of the second sec
C As a <u>B</u> lank Report
Den an Existing Report
More Files
Aged Payables v9.rpt
Vendor Detail List v91.rpt
Show welcome dialog at startup
Cancel <u>H</u> elp

2 In the Create a New Crystal Report Document box, select As a Blank Report, and then select OK.



- 3 In the Database Expert, double-click the **Btrieve** folder.
- **4** In the Open window, use the **Look in** drop-down list to navigate to the folder containing your Peachtree company files.
- **5** From the list of Peachtree DDFs, select **File.DDF**, and then select the **Open** button.

Open				? ×
History History Desktop Personal Favorites	Look jn: Field.ddf File.ddf Index.ddf			
	File <u>n</u> ame:			<u>O</u> pen
	Files of <u>type</u> :	User Default	<b>.</b>	Cancel

6 From the list of displayed tables, select **Customers**; either double-click it or select the **Right Arrow** button.

🖽 Database Expert	
Data	
Browse the data source for the tables you wa (Note: to edit the alias for a table, select the table in the	a 'Selected Tables' tree and click on it or
push the F2 key)	e Selected Fables tree and click officion
Available Data Sources:	Selected Tables:
Streve         Find Database File         C:NProgram Files\Peachtree\cor         E Audi_Trail         E Chart         E Company         E CostCode         E Customers         E General_AP         E General_AR         E General_Inv         E General_Jobs	
	OK Cancel Help
	//,

7 When finished, select **OK**.

8 From the Standard Toolbar, select **Field Explorer**.



#### **Select and Insert Fields**

Now we want to place the appropriate fields in exactly the right spots within the report.

1 Double-click **Database Fields** and then **Customers**.



2 From the list of customer fields, select **Customer ID**, and then drag it to the far left of the **Details** section of the Report Designer.

An object frame with the cursor shaped like an arrow appears as you drag the field.

**3** To insert the field, release the mouse button.

Crystal Reports for Pea	chtree - [Report2]	
🖳 File Edit View Insert	Format Database Report Win	ndow Help
D 🛩 • 🖬 🖨 🗟	🖄 🔗   👗 🗈 🛍 🍋 🗸 🗠	- Te 🧰 😫 🕞 🛤 100% 🔽 🕺 :
Arial	▼   10 ▼   <b>♣</b> ≜   <b>B</b> .	<i>I</i> <u>U</u> <b>≡</b> ≡ ≡ <b>≡ ▲</b> • <b>⊡</b> • ⊸ ₿
Design		
		2
Report Header		
	•	
Page Header		
	CustomerID	۲ 
Details =	. CustomerID	
Report Footer		
Page Footer		
-		
	Crystal Reports for Pea         File       Edit       View Insert <ul> <li>File</li> <li>Edit</li> <li>View Insert</li> <li>Arial</li> <li>Design</li> <li>Arial</li> <li>Report Header</li> <li>Page Header</li> <li>Details</li> <li>Report Footer</li> <li>Page Footer</li> <li>=</li> <li>=&lt;</li></ul>	Crystal Reports for Peachtree - [Report2]         File Edit View Insert Format Database Report Wir

Note the following:

- The object frame indicates that when the report is either printed or previewed, the field value will appear where the field name now appears.
- The width of the object frame indicates the maximum allowable width of the printed or previewed field. It is set to display the maximum number of characters in the field, but you can change this by resizing the object frame.
- The field name is repeated above, underlined, in the Page Header section. This represents the column header text for the field and is how the header will appear on the printed or previewed report.
- The font and style used in displaying both the field value and the column header indicate the font and style selected for the characters that appear in both these elements. Later, we'll tell you how to change the font and style of text characters.
- 4 Now we want to add two additional fields to the report. In the Field Explorer window, select the Contact field; press the Ctrl key; and then select the Phone\_Number field. Drag the fields and place them to the right of the CustomerID field.

As you drag the fields, an object frame appears with the cursor shaped like an arrow atop stacked sheets of paper marked with a plus. This indicates that you are inserting multiple fields at once.

😵 Crystal Reports for Pe	achtree - [Report2]
Eile Edit View Insert	t Form <u>a</u> t <u>D</u> atabase <u>R</u> eport Analyzer <u>W</u> indow <u>H</u> elp
🗅 🖻 - 🖬 🎒 🗟	🖄 🔗   μ 🗈 🗠 • ભ •   🍓 🎟 ab Σ   🛱 👰 🥵 🖏 🏭 愛
	▼ ↓ ↓ ↓ B I U   E E E   \$ , % C ℃
	E # 🗉 🛆 🔍 🍳 🔍 🕪 🗶 🍗 🟉 🔚
Design	
Report Header	
Page Header	Custom eID
Details	
Report Footer	· · · ·
Page Footer	· · · · ·

**5** Click the mouse button to insert the fields.

The fields appear in the same order in which you selected them in the Field Explorer window, namely, **Contact** followed by **Phone\_Number**.

6 Next we want to place the company name at the top of the report. In the Field Explorer window, select Formula Fields, and select the **New** button.



The Formula Name window appears.

Formula Nai	me			×
<u>N</u> ame:	Compar	ny Name		
Use E	xpert	Use E <u>d</u> itor	Cancel	

7 Type in "Company Name," and then select the **Use Editor** button.

The Formula Workshop window appears.

8 In the middle panel, double-click the **Functions** icon to expand the list of function categories. Find and double-click **Additional Functions** to further expand the list

9 Find and double-click the **peach (u2lpeach.dll)** icon.



This expands the list to display the list of custom Peachtree functions. The functions marked "v2" are Crystal Reports for Peachtree Version 9 custom functions.

10 Double-click the function GetPeachCompanyNamev2.



This is the function that will display the company name when placed in a formula and then applied to a report.



11 Select the **Close** button in the upper left corner of the Formula Editor.

The Company Name formula appears in the list of formulas in the Field Explorer window.

- Field Explorer
   Image: Company Name

   Image: Company Name
   Image: Company Name

   Image: Co
- **12** Drag the field to the Report Header section, and click to place it at the top of the section, centering it within the section.

The field name aligns with the left side of the object frame.

13 To center the field name so that the company name is centered on the printed or previewed report, select the object frame and then select the Align Center button in the Formatting toolbar.

			_				
🐯 Crystal R	eports for Peach	tree - [Report1]					
🛄 Eile Edit	⊻iew Insert F	Form <u>a</u> t <u>D</u> atabase	<u>R</u> eport <u>W</u> indo	w <u>H</u> elp			
To center the company name, select the object		a 99   X № 0 	<mark>≧ເກ</mark> •α→ <u>▲   B I</u>			t <mark>i]ab (3 Σ 41 41 41 41 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10</mark>	⊭ <b>ක</b> ( ස
Name formula, and then select the Align Center button in the toolbar.			1 · · · · · ·	· 2 · 🖓 · I · · ·	3 · · · I · · · ·	4 🕁 · · 1 · · · 5 · · · 1	6
Details Report Foote	- - - - - - -	CustomerID CustomerID		<u>Contact</u> Contact		<u>Phone Number</u> Phone_Number	
Page Footer	<u>-</u> - - - -						

The formula name is now centered in the object frame, indicating that the formula will be centered on the printed or previewed report.

### **Title and Preview the Report**

Finally, we want to add a title to the report. To do so, we'll need to slightly increase the size of the Report Header section.

1 Place the cursor on the dividing line between the Report Header and Page Header sections.

The cursor now has double arrows, indicating that you can use it to move the divider between sections.



- 2 Hold down the left mouse button, and move the dividing line down perhaps a quarter of an inch, just enough to insert the report title.
- ab
- **3** To insert the title, click the **Insert Text Object** button in the Standard toolbar, and drag the cursor to the space just below the **Company Name** formula. Click the mouse button.

An object frame appears with the text cursor at the left side of the frame.

Crystal Reports for Peachtree - [Report2]							
Eile Edit ⊻iew Inser	Form <u>a</u> t <u>D</u> atabase <u>R</u> eport Anal <u>yz</u> er <u>W</u> indow <u>H</u> elp						
🗅 🗳 • 🖬 🎒 🗟	1 🜮   ¾ 🗈 🛍 ∾ → ∞ →   🐁 🎟 ab 🗵   📮 🖓 🌮 🏠 🛍 🔮   👫 100% 💽 🕅						
Times New Roman (Western	· 10 ▼ A A B I U E E E E 6 , % 양 ℃ 2 E F						
	※ ■ Δ 念   Q, Q, ⊕   X   `9 #   ■						
Design							
	Δ						
Report Header	CompanyName						
	Annanana di						
Page Header							
	CustomerID Contact Phone Number						
Details	CustomerID Contact Phone_Number						

4 In the object frame, type "Customer Contact List."

≣

5

Next, let's center the title just as we did the **Company Name** formula. Select the object frame around the report title, and then click the **Align Center** button.

The text appears centered within the object frame.

😵 Crystal Reports for Pe	achtree - [Report2]	
Eile Edit ⊻iew Insert	t Form <u>a</u> t <u>D</u> atabase <u>R</u> eport Analy <u>z</u> er <u>W</u> indow <u>H</u> elp	
🗅 🖻 - 🖬 🎒 🗟 (	🖄 🔣   👗 🗈 💼 🗠 + 🖙 -   🍓 🎟 ab 🗵   📮	🗟 🌮 🍄 🛍 🔮 🛤 100% 💽 📌
Times New Roman (Western		, % 양 왕 📖 🔚 🕈
	≣ ☆ 凶 念   � ♀ ♀ ∞   ≍   ७ <i>ङ</i>	
Design		
	<u>,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,</u>	: · · · I · · · · 4 · · · · · · · · · · ·
Report Header	· [ :	CompanyName
		Customer Contact List
Page Header	:	
	CustomerID Contact	phone Number
Details	CustomerID	Phone_Number

- **6** Now we want to change the font and style of the report title. Select the object frame around the title, and then right mouse click.
- 7 From the pop-up menu that appears, select **Edit Text**.
- **8** When the text cursor appears, select the "Customer Contact List" text to highlight it, and right mouse click again.

😴 Crystal Reports for Feachtree - [Report2]									
Eile Edit ⊻iew Insert	t Form <u>a</u> t <u>D</u> atabase <u>R</u> eport Analyzer <u>W</u> indow <u>H</u> elp								
🗅 🖻 • 🖬 🎒 🗟 (	🖄 🔣   👗 🛍 🛍 🗠 🗸 🗠 -   🎨 🎟 ab 🗵   📭	/ 🖓 🛠 🎕 🏨 🔮 👫 100% 🔽 📢							
Times New Roman (Western	Times New Roman (Western 🔽 10 💌 🐥 🔺 🖪 🖌 🖳 🖉 🗏 🦉 🐺 🖓 🖉 🖉 🖀 👘 🖓								
	▶ # # = # = ▲ 念   ♥ ♥ ♥   ★   =								
Design Preview									
	L	X							
Report Header	·	CompanyName							
	· · -	Customer Contact List							
Page Header									
	- CustomerID Contact	hone Number							
Details	CustomerID Contact	Phone_Number							

**9** From the pop-up menu that appears, select **Text Formatting**.

Text Format	×
Font Paragraph Formatting Tabs	
Eont: Times New Roman (Western)	
Style: Regular	
Size: 10 💌	ł
Color: Black 💌	
Effects	
Strikeout     Underline	
Character spacing exactly: 0 pts	
Sample:	
1 ext U0ject	
OK Cancel <u>H</u> elp	1

The Text Format window appears with the Font tab selected.

- 10 From the Style drop-down list, select Bold.
- **11** From the **Size** drop-down list, select **18** points.
- 12 From the Color drop-down list, select Maroon.
- **13** When finished, select **OK**.

Crystal Reports for Peachtree - [Report2]   File   Edit   Yiew   Y Y A B I I E E B 7 % % % % % % % % % % % % % % % % % %															
Eile Edit View Insert Format Database Beport Analyzer Window Help   Image: Source of the set	😵 Crystal	Reports	for Peac	htree -	[Report2]	]									
Image: Solution of the solution	🌆 <u>F</u> ile <u>E</u>	dit <u>V</u> iew	Insert	Form <u>a</u> t	<u>D</u> atabase	<u>R</u> eport	Analyzer	<u>W</u> indow	<u>H</u> elp						
Image: Second state of the second s	🗅 🚔 •		غ 🚨	a 🗲	Х 🗈 🕻	ιn -	CH   I	🚴 🎞 al	) <b>Σ</b>   🛱	æ 😴	¢2 🛍 🖇	2 🖗 🛛	% 💽 😽		
Design       Preview         Report Header       [         Custom er ID       [         Custom er ID       [         Contact       [         Page Header       [         Custom er Contact List       ]         Details       [				-	▼	≜   ∎	: <u>I</u>		≣ \$	,%;	°°℃	M   🔁 🦞			
Design       Preview         Report Header			성요 ····· 역한 ·····		I A 🕹	Q. 9	ξ Q ω		• •   •						
Report Header	Design	Preview													
Report Header     Company Name       -     Customer Contact List       Page Header     .       .     .				5		• 1 • •	е. 1. е. е.	· 20 · ·	1 + + + 3		· · · 4	<b>B</b>	. 5	1 * * * (	3 · · ·
Customer Contact List       Page Header       Custom erID       Contact       Details         ObtainerID         Contact         Prove_Number	Report Hea	ader	[					:		1	CompanyNam	ue		3	
Page Header     .			-							C	Custor	ner C	ontact	List	2
Custom erID         Contact         Phone Number           Details	Page Head	der													
Details CustomerID Contact Phone_Number				Custo	merID			] Conta	<u>ct</u>			phone Nu	<u>nber</u>		3
	Details			Custon	nerID			Contact				Phone_Numbe	r		

**14** The title will be a bit off center, so select the object frame; drag it to center it; and then release the mouse button.

- **15** Now let's preview the report to make sure it will look all right when printed. Do one of the following:
  - From the File menu, select Print Preview.



A new tab, the **Preview** tab, appears. It shows how the report will look in printed form.

😵 Crystal Reports for Peachtre	e - [Report2]							
Pile Edit ⊻iew Insert Form	<u>at D</u> atabase <u>R</u> eport Analy <u>z</u> er <u>W</u> ini	dow <u>H</u> elp						
🗅 🗳 • 🖬 🎒 🗟 🔗	X 🖻 🖻 🗠 • 🖓 • 🗟 🗖	] ab Σ 📮 🖓 🌮 🍪 🛍 🕯	2 👫 100% 🔽 🕺					
	▼   4 ≜   <b>B</b> I <u>U</u>   ≣	≡ ≡   \$ , % 改 ℃	M 🔚 🐈					
Design Preview								
···· Report1	• • • • • • • • • • • • • •	•••2••••••••3••••	4 5					
RH - - - - - - -		Bellwet Custome	ner Gurden Supply r Contact List					
P       -         D	Custom erID CH APMA N. MURPHY-01 C OLEMAN-01 C UNNIN GHAM-01 ERTLEY-01 FREEMAN-01 HARDIN G-01 HOLT-01 MACKAY-01 MAS ON-01 MILLS-01 RETAIL-01 SHARP-01 SMART-01 SMART-01 SMART-01 STEVEN S-01 TID MORE-01 WILLIAMS ON-01	Contact Felecia Chapman Chris Coleman Betty Cunningham Lee Ertley Darlene Freeman John Harding Jacob Hensley Jamie Hoh Nicole Mackay Troy Mason Sam Mills Walk-in Customers Alice Sharp George Smart Melissa Smith Jeremy Spencer Marsha Stevens Wade Tidmore Cindy Williamson	$\begin{array}{c} \underline{Phone} & \underline{Number} \\ 770-555-8858 \\ 770-555-1005 \\ 770-555-1147 \\ 770-555-6660 \\ 770-555-8967 \\ 770-555-8944 \\ 404-555-2025 \\ 770-555-9927 \\ 404-555-4225 \\ 770-555-3311 \\ 770-555-6948 \\ 770-555-6948 \\ 770-555-9988 \\ 404-555-2246 \\ 404-555-2246 \\ 404-555-791 \\ 770-555-8848 \\ 770-555-8848 \\ 770-555-8848 \\ 770-555-8848 \\ 770-555-8882 \\ \end{array}$					

To make any desired changes, such as changing the placement of fields for a more esthetically pleasing effect, select the **Design** tab, and work with the fields there. As you learned in Lesson 1 (page <u>37</u>), it's possible to change report elements on the **Preview** tab, but it's generally easier working on the **Design** tab.

**16** Finally, from the **File** menu, select **Save As**, and save the report under the name "Customer Contact List."



### **Review of Lesson 2**

Let's review some of the ideas we covered in Lesson 2:

- Use the Database Expert window to connect with the DDF that contains the database tables you want in your report. Use this window also to find and select the tables you want to include. (If you add more than one table to the report and have the Smart Linking feature turned on, which is recommended, Crystal Reports will automatically link the selected tables for you where linking is possible.)
- To add fields to the table, use the Field Explorer to find and select the appropriate fields within the included database tables. You can select multiple fields by highlighting the fields and then selecting the **Ctrl** button.
- To resize any of the sections in the report, just select the section divider, and holding down the left mouse button, drag the divider to the position you want.
- To center text within an object frame, use the Align Center button.
- To add text to the report, use the Insert Text Object button
- To change the font properties of a text object, select the object and right mouse click. From the pop-up menu, select **Edit Text Object**. Highlight the text; right click again; and select **Change Font**. When the **Font** tab of the Text Format window appears, make the appropriate changes.
- To preview a report before printing, select **Print Preview** from the **File** menu, or select the **Refres**h button in the Standard toolbar.

# Lesson 3—Designing a Quotes Good Through List

The third lesson covers the design of a list of quotes issued to customers arranged by good-through (quote expiration) date. The report will list the initial date of the quote, the customer, the quote amount, and the good-through date.

To show more of the design capabilities of Crystal Reports, this time we'll let the Report Wizard guide us.

### Use the Report Wizard to Build the Report

- Crystal Reports Gallery

   Create a New Crystal Report Document

   Image: Create a New Crystal Report Wizard

   Image: Create a New Crystal Report

   Image: Create a New Crystal Report

   Choose a Wizard

   Image: Cross T ab

   Image: Name of the Standard

   Image: Cross T ab

   Image: Name of the Standard

   Image: Cross T ab

   Image: Name of the Standard

   Image: Cross T ab

   Image: Name of the Standard

   Image: Cross T ab

   Image: Name of the Standard

   Image: Cross T ab

   Image: Name of the Standard

   Image: Cross T ab

   Image: Name of the Standard

   Image: Cross T ab

   Image: Name of the Standard

   Image: Cross T ab

   Image: Name of the Standard

   Image: Cross T ab

   Image: Name of the Standard

   Image: Cross T ab

   Image: Name of the Standard

   Image: Cross T ab

   Image: Name of the Standard

   Image: Cross T ab

   Image: Name of the Standard

   Image: Cross T ab

   Image: Cross T ab

   Image: Cross T ab
- 1 From the **File** menu, select **New**.

- 2 In the Create a New Crystal Report Document box, select Using the Report Wizard.
- **3** Note that in the **Choose a Wizard** box, **Standard** is preselected. This is what we want, so click **OK**.

The Standard Report Creation Wizard starts with the Data window.

**4** Double-click the **Create New Connection** folder to open it, and then double-click **Btrieve**.

🔛 Standard Report Creation Wizard		×
Data Choose the data you want to report on		3
Available D ata Sources: Current Connections Favorites Greate New Connection Greate Ne	Selected Tables:	
< <u>B</u> ack. <u>N</u> ext >	Finish Cancel Help	

**5** In the Open window, use the **Look in** drop-down list to navigate to the folder containing your Peachtree company files.

6 From the list of Peachtree DDFs, select **File.DDF**, and then select the **Open** button.

Open			? ×
History Desktop Personal Favorites	Look jn: Field.ddf File.ddf Index.ddf		
	File <u>n</u> ame:	<u>O</u> pen	
	Files of <u>type</u> :	User Default Cancel	

7 From the list of displayed tables, select **JrnlRow**; then select the right arrow button.

Available Data Sources		Selected 1	ables	
- Audit Trai	1			
CostCode	1 3			
- Employee General AP		1		
- General_AP	-			
General Inv	1045	_		
- S General, Jobs				
- El John				
- Indiper	لغر			

The table appears in the **Selected Tables** box on the right.

8 Repeat for the JrnlHdr and Customer tables.



For Smart Linking to work properly, selection order is *very* important, so be sure to select tables in the prescribed order: **JrnrlRow**, **JrnlHdr**, **Customer**.

9 When finished, select Next.

The Links window appears, asking you to link the tables as needed.

Link together the tables you added to the report.  Auto_Arrange  Auto_Arrange  Auto_Link Tables  QtyOrdered  QtyOrdered  DistNumber  RowDescription  CustomerRecordNumber  VendedDescription  CustomerRecordNumber  Customers  Customer
--

10 With Smart Linking turned on (which is the default), the Expert has linked the PostOrder field in the JrnlHdr and JrnlRow tables and the CustomerRecord fields in the JrnlRow and Customers tables. Accept these links by selecting the Next button at the bottom of the window.

The Fields window appears.

Choose the information to display on the report		
Available Fields: CustomerRecordNumber CustomerID Customer_Type Contact Customer_Type Contact Customer_Type Contact CustomerChumber CustomerUnused0 CustomerUnused0 CustomerUnused0 CustomerUnused0 CustomerUnused0 CustomerInuser1	Fields to Display:	

**11** In the **Available Fields** box, double-click the Customer table if it is not already open. Select the **CustomerID** field, and then click the **Right Arrow** button.

The **CustomerID** field moves to the **Fields to Display** box at the right side of the window.

- 12 In the Available Fields box, double-click the JrnlHdr table to open it. Press the Ctrl key, and select the GoodThruDate, QuoteIDForSales, Transaction Date, and MainAmount fields, and then click the Right Arrow button.
- **13** Use the **Up** and **Down Arrow** buttons above the **Fields to Display** box to place the fields in the following order (if they aren't already):
  - GoodThruDate
  - CustomerID
  - QuoteIDForSales
  - TransactionDate
  - MainAmount



Standard Report Creation Wizard Fields Choose the information to display of	In the report.
Available Fields:	Fields to <u>Display:</u> Customers: CustomerID  JmiHdr.GoodThruDate  JmiHdr.GoodThruDate  JmiHdr.MainAmount  Use the Up and Down Arrow buttons to change the order of the fields, if needed.
	< Back Next > Finish Cancel Help

**14** When finished, select the **Next** button.

**15** We want to group our data by the **GoodThruDate** field, so select it in the **Available Fields** box, and then click the **Right Arrow** button.

Standard Report Creation Wizard Grouping (Optional) Group the information on the repo	nt.	<u>د</u> 2}
Available Fields:	<u>G</u> roup By:	
Browse Data <u>F</u> ind Field	in ascending order.	•
< <u>B</u> ack	Next > Finish Cancel	Help

>

- **16** The preselected sort order is acceptable, so select the **Next** button.
- 17 We want to include summary information to appear on our report, and the Summaries window lets us do this. The Wizard has intelligently preselected the MainAmount field as the field to summarize. Select the Next button.

(Optional) Add summary information to the	ерок.	
Available Fields: Report Fields Customers.CustomerID JrnIHdr.GoodThruDate JrnIHdr.QuoteIDForSales JrnIHdr.MainAmount JrnIHdr.TransactionDate Customers CustomerRecordNumber	Summarized Fields:	
CustomerID     Customer_Type     Customer_Type     Gontact     FAX_Number     SalesTaxResaleNum     Our_Account     Customed DursedD	▼ Sum	
Browse Data Eind Field		_

The Group Sorting window lets us sort groups based on summarized totals. This could be useful if we wanted to see, for example, which sales rep made the most sales in a month, but for our current report sorting is not important. So select the **Next** button without making any changes to the settings.

🖀 Standard Report Creation Wizard	×
Group Sorting (Optional) Sort the groups based on the summarized totals.	*
Group that will be sorted:	
国 JmlHdr. GoodThruDate	-
What kind of group ordering would you like to see?	
None	
C Iop 5 groups	
C Bottom 5 groups	
Comparing summary values for the Top or Bottom groups:	
	~
< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext> Finish Cancel	Help

**19** Again, a chart would be valuable for visually representing sales per sales rep or per geographic area, but for our report charting is not important. So select **Next** without choosing a chart option.

What kind of chart	would you like to se	w?			
@ Ng Diat	🗆 Byr Chart 🚧	C Line Charl	C BeChat	•	
Ongtile					
Contract of					
Unighangelot					v
Shog samay					_
1					-

20 In the Record Selection window (shown after step 21 below), we want to make sure that only quotes appear in our report. To do so, in the Available Fields box, double-click the JrnlHdr.Dat (Btrieve) folder to open it; then double-click the JrnlHdr table to open it. In the list of fields, select JrnKey\_Journal. This will tell Crystal that of all the company information contained in the journal header file, we want only quote information to appear in the report. Finally, click the Right Arrow button.

>

21 From the drop-down list immediately underneath the **Filter Fields** box, select **is equal to**. And in the other drop-down list box that appears, type **12**.

📱 Standard Report Creation Wiz	ard			×
Record Selection (Optional) Select a subset of in	nformation to display.			<b>\$</b>
Available Fields:		Filter Fields:		<b>•</b>
	< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ex	ıt>Finish	Cancel	Help

22 Now, repeat steps 20 and 21 for the DistNumber field. In the Available Fields box, double-click the JrnlRow table to open it. Select DistNumber, move it to the Filter Fields box on the right side of the window, and then select the is equal to parameter from the first drop-down list. But in the second drop-down list box, type 1, as shown below.

🖽 Standard Report Creation Wizard		×
Record Selection (Optional) Select a subset of information to display.		5
Available Fields:	Filter Fields:       Imiliar Jmilkdr.Jmilkey_Journal       Imiliar Jmilkow.DistNumber       Imiliar Jmilkow.DistNumber       Is equal to       1	•

23 When finished, select Next.

Standard Report Creation Wizard Template (Optional) Select a template for the report.	
Available Templates           Available Templates           Wave         Contrast Index         Corporate (Blue)         CD Corporate - Page Sections Only         Corporate (Green)         Block (Blue)         Block (Blue)         Grant Sections         Grant Sections <th>Preview Preview not available.</th>	Preview Preview not available.
Br <u>o</u> wse < <u>B</u> ack	Next> Finish Cancel Help

The last window, the Template window, lets you add a little predesigned pizzazz to your report. To familiarize yourself with the available templates, click each to see a preview. However, for our current report we want a plain format, so we're going to stick with the **No Template** option.

😵 Crystal Re	ports for Pea	achtree - [R	eport2]				_ 🗆 🗡
📑 Eile Edit	<u>V</u> iew <u>I</u> nsert	Form <u>a</u> t <u>D</u>	atabase <u>R</u> eport <u>W</u> indov	v <u>H</u> elp			_ & ×
🗋 🗅 🚔 📲	<b>-</b>   # ].	🖄 🔗   🐰	h 🗈 🗠 • • • •	🔚 🎟 🔮 🖬 🛤	100% 🔽 🦃		
	Y         A         B         I         U         E         E         E         I         U         E         F         E         I         U         E         F         E         I         U         E         F         E         I         U         E         F         E         I         U         E         F         E         I         U         E         F         I         U         E         F         I         U         E         F         I         U         E         F         I         U         I         U         I         U         I         U         I         U         I         U         I         U         I         U         I         U         I         U         I         U         I         U         I         U         I         U         I         U         I         U         I         U         I         I         U         I         I         U         I         U         I         I         U         I         I         U         I         I         U         I         U         I         U         I         U         I						
ab (8 Σ	🗗 🛃 🚱	S 🛛 🔁	i 🛍 👮				
🗣 🗉 👂	• 🔁 🌮   (	🗑 粒 🖙	5 4 8 1				
Design Pr	review					Today 16:09 🗙 🛯 🖣	1 of 1 🕨 🕨 🔳
☐-Repot2 - 4/13/2	PH GH1 D GF1 RF		4/21/200: <u>GoodThruDate</u> 4/13/2003 4/14/2003 4/14/2003 4/15/2003 4/13/2003 Grand Total:	CustomerID HOLT-01 MACKAY-01 FREEMAN-01	3 • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	• <b>5</b> • • • <b>1</b> • • • <b>6</b> • • • •	MainAmount 499.86 373.57 52.99 926.42 926.42

24 Select Finish to see the completed Quotes Good Through report.

Notice that the report is displayed on the **Preview** tab to show what it will look like when printed. To achieve the look seen above, you may need to make minor adjustments to the column headings. For information on how to do so, see the *Crystal Reports User's Guide*, the "Quick Start" chapter.



- **25** Finally, select the **Save** button in the Standard toolbar, and save the report under the name "Quotes Good Through List."
- 26 Now test your memory. Insert the "Bellwether Garden Supply" company name on the report. If you don't remember how, consult the section of Lesson 1 where we discuss putting the company name on a report.

# **Filter the Report**



Finally, we want to add a *parameter field*, which will make the report more useful by limiting the amount of data displayed. The parameter field we want to add will filter the **GoodThruDate** field by a cutoff date so that no quotes with an expiration date earlier than the cutoff date will appear on the report.

- ===
- 1 in the Standard toolbar, select the **Insert Fields** button.



2 When the Field Explorer window appears, select **Parameter Fields** and right click. From the pop-up menu, select **New**.

Create Parameter Field					×
Parameter Field					
<u>N</u> ame:					
Prompting text:					
∐alue type:	String			•	
Options					
Allo <u>w</u> multiple values		9	et default values		
Discrete value(s)		72			
C Range value(s)		Allow there	v editing of defau a is more than on	it values when	
Usgrete and Hange	values			e veloie	
	0	K.	Cancel	<u>H</u> elp	

- 3 In the Name field, enter "QuoteExpirationDate."
- 4 In the **Prompting** text field, enter "Enter desired Quote Good Through Date."
- 5 In the Value type field, use the drop-down list to select **Date**.

#### 6 Click the **Set default values** button.

Set Default Values					×
Select from database					
Browse table:	Customers	•			
Browse field:		•			
Select or enter value to a M/D/YYYY	add:	Default Values	De	scription	±
2/2003	• >				
	>>	il i			
	 <<				
		Import pick list	Export pi	ick list	Define description
Options					
🔲 Range Limited Fiel	d		Display:	Value and	d description 💌
Start Date	5/ 2/2003	•	Order:	No sort	▼
End Date	5/ 2/2003	•	Order based on:	Value	<b>V</b>
			OK		ancel Help

The **Select or enter value to add** box displays the current date (the system date from your computer). Since we want to limit the expiration date for quotes listed on the report to April 1, 2007, we want to select that date and then make it the default date for the report.

7 In the M/D/YYYY field, use the drop down list to display a calendar. Navigate through the calendar until you find April 1, 2007, and then select it.

Set Default Values	
Select from database	
Browse table:	Customers
Browse field:	<b>•</b>
Select or enter value to add	t: Default Values
47 172007	
April, 2007	
Sun         Mon         Tue         Wed         Th           25         26         27         28         29           1         2         3         4         5           8         9         10         11         12	u Fri Sat 3 30 31 6 7 2 13 14
15 16 17 18 19	B 20 21 Import pick list
<b>Q</b> 29 30 1 2 3	4 5
C Today: 5/2/200	3
Start Date 5/	2/2003
End Date 5/	2/2003



8

Now, click the **Right Arrow** button next to the field to populate the **Default values** box with this date.
- 9 When finished, click **OK** twice.
- 10 Next, we want to create a report selection formula that will filter the report to show quotes that fall before the expiration date of April 1, 2007. From the Report menu, choose Selection Formulas and then Records.

The Record Selection Formula Editor appears.

- Place the cursor on the last line of formula, which should read
  {JrnlRow.DistNumber = 1}. Type a space and then the word "and." Press
  Enter to go to the next line.
- 12 In the panel on the left side of the window, double-click the **Reports Fields** icon to open it, and then double-click the **GoodThruDate** field. It will appear as part of the selection formula. Type a greater than (>) sign after it.
- **13** Next, select the **Report Fields** icon at the top of the left panel; then find and select (double-click) the **?Quote Expiration Date** field. It should appear as part of the selection formula; see below.



**14** The formula is now complete, so select **Close** to close the Record Selection Formula Editor.

A message appears asking "Do you want to save your changes?"

15 Click Yes.

**16** When the Enter Parameter Values window appears, accept the default by clicking the **OK** button.

Since we have previously saved the report, a message appears telling us that Crystal has detected a change.



**17** Select the **Refresh Data** option.



18 Now select **Save** again to save the final version of our report.

## **Review of Lesson 3**

Let's review some of the ideas we covered in Lesson 3:

- The Standard Report Creation Wizard lets you choose the database, database tables, and links that will operate in the report much as you would do if you had started with the Database Expert.
- The **Fields** window of the Wizard lets you add fields to the report and also select the order of those fields and the column headings that will identify them in the report.
- The **Grouping** window lets you group all information in the report by one or more of the chosen fields.
- The Summaries window lets you choose a field or fields that will provide summary information in the report. It also lets you chosen whether or not to include a grand total as part of the summary information.
- The **Group Sorting** window lets you sort groups based on summarized totals. This could be useful in the case of reports reflecting information such as sales, where you will want to track sales reps or units doing the best business.
- The Chart window lets you add a chart to the report, a visual representation of facts and figures in the report.
- The **Record Selection** window lets you use one or more of the fields to filter the information that appears on the report. This will limit the amount and nature of data you see.
- The **Template** tab lets you overlay your report with a predesigned template, to give your report added flair.
- If you want to further limit the data appearing on the report, adding one or more parameter fields to the report will be the answer. Go to the Field Explorer, select **Parameter Fields**, right click, and select **New**.

## Upgrading Crystal Reports to Peachtree 2004

# 4

## Overview

Join Type	<u>72</u>
Relative Datapath	<u>73</u>
Repository Explorer	<u>73</u>

### Upgrading Peachtree 2004 Using Crystal Reports for Peachtree Version 9

74

Verify and Set DataSource Location

## Upgrading Peachtree 2004 Using Crystal Reports for Peachtree Version 8

Verify the Database	<u>77</u>
Map Unmapped Fields	<u>78</u>
Relink Database Tables	<u>79</u>

## Replacing Old Report Functions in Crystal Reports for Peachtree Version 9

Copy the New Function and Paste into the Custom Formula <u>84</u>

## • Upgrading Crystal Reports to Peachtree 2004 •

## Overview



If you used Crystal Reports for Peachtree with a prior release, you need to update your customized reports to the new Peachtree 2004 data formats. (This essentially allows you access to new or modified data fields introduced in Peachtree 2004.) To learn how to quickly update your customized reports, look up "convert, custom Crystal reports to new Peachtree Release format" in the Peachtree Help index.

If you have upgraded to Peachtree Accounting, Peachtree Complete Accounting, or Peachtree Premium Accounting 2004 but *have not* upgraded Crystal Reports for Peachtree from Version 8, your custom Crystal reports will work with Peachtree following data conversion. However, if you have upgraded to a version of Peachtree 2004 *and* upgraded to Crystal Reports for Peachtree Version 9, you will also need to verify the data source location for your custom reports before converting report data to Version 9 format.

The instructions that follow cover both instances. Complete these instructions, and you should be using your custom Crystal reports in no time. Before we discuss upgrading, however, we want to note three changes in Version 9 of Crystal Reports for Peachtree, two of which impact working with reports.

### Join Type

One important change noted in these instructions is that the default join type for linking tables has changed in Version 9. In Version 8, the default join type was **Left Outer Join**. The default type in Version 9 is **Inner Join**, which we recommend you *not* use. Because it provides links between same-name fields in report tables, using the **Inner Join** type results in tables with a minimum of linkages and no redunancy. However, this join type can also result in reports that are missing important data, so you should always set up your reports to have links of the type **Left Outer Join**. Note that these two join types are the only ones available in Crystal Reports for Peachtree.



For more information on join types, look up "linking options" in the Crystal Reports Online Help index.

### **Relative Datapath**

As noted in the instructions that follow, Version 9 of Crystal Reports for Peachtree requires that all custom reports be in the same datapath as the company files they draw on for their data. To make sure that a report will always be able to access the right company data, you need to set the relative datapath for the report. Follow these steps:

In Crystal Reports for Peachtree, open the report.

1 From the Database menu, select **Set Datasource Location**.

The Set Datasource Location window appears.

- 2 In the **Current Datasource** box at the top of the window, double-click the **Properties** icon to see the list of report properties.
- **3** Right-click on the **Data File** line, and from the pop-up menu, select **Edit**.
- 4 Edit the selection so that it reads "Data File: ./FILE.DDF."
- 5 Press the Enter or Tab key.

Once a report is saved with the relative datapath of ./FILE.DDF, you can move it to any company folder, and you will be able to use it for that company without having to reset the datasource location.

#### **Repository Explorer**

In the Crystal Reports for Peachtree Version 9 Design window, you will notice a button called the **Repository Explorer** button. It opens the Repository Explorer window, a feature that is discussed in Version 9 documentation. This feature does not work with Peachtree 2004. If you open the Repository Explorer while working in a Crystal report, you will see no data in the window. Please ignore this feature and references to it the *Crystal Reports User's Guide* and Crystal Reports Online Help.

## Upgrading to Peachtree 2004 Using Crystal Reports for Peachtree Version 9



When you convert to Peachtree 2004 *and* Crystal Reports for Peachtree Version 9, the company folders for companies created in older releases of Peachtree will contain standard Crystal reports in both Version 8 and Version 9 formats. However, if you create a new company through new company setup in Peachtree 2004, your company folder will contain only Version 9 standard Crystal reports. Also, the Peachtree 2004 sample companies (such as Bellwether Garden Supply) contain only Version 9 standard reports. Version 9 standard reports are marked with a "v9" notation (for example, *Customer Detail List v9*).

If you are upgrading Peachtree 2004 *and* upgrading to Crystal Reports for Peachtree 9, there is an important initial step you should take to make sure your custom reports will work properly. After you complete the step, you can follow the instructions outlined under <u>"Upgrading to Peachtree 2004 Using Crystal</u> Reports for Peachtree Version 8" on page 77.

## Verify and Set Data Source Location

Version 9 of Crystal Reports for Peachtree requires that the report you are working with is in the same datapath as the company files it draws its data from. If it is not, wrong or missing data will show up in the report, so you must verify that your custom report is indeed in the right datapath. Follow these steps:



- 1 Open the appropriate company in Peachtree, and from the **Reports** menu, select **Crystal Reports**.
- 2 From the **Report** List box, select the custom report you want to convert.
- **3** Click **OK** to proceed; the selected report appears.

If the current datasource location matches exactly the datapath location of your custom report, or if the datasource location is set to .\FILE.DDF, you can skip to step 5.

4 From the **Database** menu, select **Set Datasource Location**.

Set Datasource Location	×
Change the location of the data source by selecting the current database (or table) and choos replace it with. Then click Update.	ing the database (or table) to
Im report  Cypeachwybcs/field.ddf  Cypeachwybcs/field.ddf  Cympany  E Company  E Customers  E Customers  E Employee	
, R <u>e</u> place with:	
Access/Excel (DAD)  Brieve  Cystal Queries  Database Files  Dictionary/Inforview  Dictionary/Inforvie	▲ Update
	Close <u>H</u> elp

The Set Datasource Location window lets you change the location of the current data source (that is, the DDF file) for the report. This might be necessary for a number of reasons, including

- the report has been copied into the company directory of a new company
- you have newly installed Peachtree and have backed up your company data into a dummy company
- the company data has been moved to a new machine with a different datapath
- 5 In the **Replace with** list box, click **Btrieve** to open the folder. The **Find Database File** icon appears.

6 Click **Find Database File** to locate the datapath where the Peachtree 2004 data source is located. When you find the proper data source, select it.

Set Datasource Location		×
Change the location of the data source by selecting the current database (or table) and choosin replace it with. Then click Update.	ig the database (o	r table) to
Current Data Source:		
Properties  Company  One Company		
J Replace with:		
Find Database File  Find Database File  C:\builds\PCW10\Bcs\FILE.DDF  @  Company  @  CostCode  @  Customers  @  Employee  Company  @  CostCode  @  Customers  @  Employee  Customers  @		<u>U</u> pdate
	Close	Help

7 The **Update** button becomes available. Select it, and then select **Close**.

The data source location has now been established and the database verified for the report. Since verification has already occurred, proceed to <u>"Map Unmapped Fields" on page 78</u>.

## Upgrading to Peachtree 2004 Using Crystal Reports for Peachtree Version 8

If have upgraded to Peachtree 2004 and are using Version 8 of Crystal Reports, basically you have two tasks to complete: verifying the database and reestablishing links among database tables.

### Verify the Database

- 1 Open the appropriate company in Peachtree, and from the **Reports** menu, select **Crystal Reports**.
- 2 From the **Report** List box, select the custom report you want to convert.
- **3** Click **OK** to proceed; the selected report appears.
- 4 From the **Database** menu, select **Verify Database**.

Crystal Reports automatically compares the database tables used in the custom report with tables used by Peachtree 2004. It compares field names in the existing tables with names used in the new tables and then maps the fields. If any fields remain unmapped—that is, the field names don't match—Crystal lists the unmapped fields and invites you to map them.

## **Map Unmapped Fields**

In the illustration that follows, we are updating the Customer Detail List report. We've selected **Verify Database**, and Crystal has found that four fields in the report remain unmapped to fields in the new database table. These three fields from the Customers table appear in the **Unmapped Fields** list box on the left side of the window.



1 To map a field, select it in the Unmapped Fields box, and then find its equivalent in the list box on the right side of the window. In the case of the first unmapped field, *Bill\_Name*, the field name has changed for Peachtree 2004. It is now called *Customer\_Bill\_Name*. So you would select that field in the list box on the right side of the window.

In the list box on the right
side of the Map Fields
window, select the new
field name that you want
to map to. The <b>Map</b>
button becomes available.

Map Fi	elds			×
Unmappe	d Fields	 		
<b>─</b> ~ <b>₩ F</b> <b>−</b> . <b>0</b>	Report Fields Customers Bill_Name DefaultSalesAcnt SalesRep	C:\builds\PCW10\Bes Customers Customers Customers GUID Customer_Bill Customer_Bill Ship1_TaxCod Ship2_Name	<u>M</u> ap Match <u>t</u> ype	

The **Map** button now becomes available.

2 To map the fields, select the **Map** button; keep the **Match type** check box checked.

The old field is now matched to the new one, as seen in the two **Mapped Fields** list boxes at the bottom of the window.

	💾 Map Fields	×
	Unmapped Fields	
	Report Fields  DefaultSalesAcnt  SalesRep	Customers ▲ Map Dur_Account GUID Terms_Unused Ship1_TaxCode Ship2_Addr1 Ship2_Addr1
The formerly unmapped Bill_Name field is now mapped to the new Customer_Bill_Name field.	Mapped Fields	TermsDueAtMonthEr
		OK Cancel <u>H</u> elp

**3** Repeat steps 5 and 6 for any other fields that remain unmapped.

Note that you don't have to map every field; some fields may not have new equivalents that need to be matched to them.

4 When finished, select **OK** to return to the report.

#### **Relink Database Tables**

Now that all fields are properly mapped, you're ready to make sure that links between database tables are valid and in place. If links are not valid, Crystal Reports issues an error message at this point. But even if you don't see a message, it's always a good idea to make sure all links are in place.

This is true if your custom report contains account numbers or employee IDs. In older versions of Peachtree, the Chart and Employee tables were linked using employee IDs. In Release 2004 of Peachtree, however, the links are established using *employee record numbers*. So if you are upgrading from an older version of Peachtree links to the Chart and Employee tables will certainly be broken.

To relink the tables, follow these steps:

1 From the **Database** menu, select **Database Expert**.

The **Data** tab contains a list of data sources you can add to the database tables for the report. In the illustration below, we are still working on the Customer Detail List. We need to add the *Chart* database source to the report's database tables, so we have selected it in the **Available Database Sources** list box.

2 In the Database Expert, select the database source you want to add to the list of tables, and then click the first arrow button to the lefts of the Available Database Sources list box.



The source moves to the Selected Tables list box.

- **3** Repeat step 2 to move any needed additional data sources to the **Selected Tables** list box.
- 4 When finished, select the **Links** tab.

This tab displays the links between the database tables. In our example, the Customer Detail List, note that links have been reestablished between the Customers table and the Chart and Employee tables.



**5** Even though the links are in place, next you need to make sure the link types are correct. Select a link line, and then select the **Link Options** button.

The Link Options window shows the type of link that exists between the tables. The default join type for Version 9 of Crystal Reports for Peachtree is *Inner Join*, but for your custom reports you should always choose instead *Left Outer Join* as the join type.

Link Options	X
Customers.EmpRecordNumber	> Employee.EmpRecordNumber
Join Type	Link Type
💿 [nnerJoin]	• =
C Left Outer Join	0>
C Bight Outer Join	C >=
C Eull Outer Join	0 <
	C <=
	C !=
OK	Cancel <u>H</u> elp

- 6 Select the **Left Outer Join** option button. Then select **OK** to return to the Database Expert.
- 7 Repeat steps 5 and 6 for each link whose type you need to change.

Next, check also that there are no inappropriate links between tables. In the detail of Database Expert Links tab shown below, note the links between the Employee and Company tables.



Since the example we're using is the *Customer* Detail List, the report doesn't need to draw on employee record fields such as employee's street address, e-mail address, and phone number. So these links need to be broken.

- 8 If there are any inappropriate links between tables, select one of these links and right-click. From the pop-up menu, select **Delete Link**. Repeat for each link that should not exist.
- **9** When finished, select **OK** to accept the changes and return to the report.



*If you are upgrading to Version 9 of Crystal Reports for Peachtree*, at this point you will see a message that reads "The database is now up to date." Click **OK** to dismiss the message; then proceed with step 10.



- **10** You're ready now to refresh the data. Select the **Refresh** button.
- **11** In the Refresh Report Data window, select **Prompt for new parameter values**.
- **12** In the Enter Parameter Values window, use the **End of range** drop-down list to select the very end of the range; it will be represented by a series of z's, as in the example below.



**13** Select **OK** to accept the setting and return to the report.

You should now be ready to work with your custom report in Peachtree 2004.

However, in some cases you will see an error message stating that one of the functions you used in putting together the report is not valid in this version of Crystal.

The second constitute is	Invalid Function	×
The new function is marked with "v2" to indicate it's a Crystal Reports for Peachtree Version 9 function.	The function [GetPeachCustomFieldHeading] is no longer supported with this version of Crystal Reports. Please copy the following new function into your formula. GetPeachCustomFieldHeadingv2 (Filename, AR=1 AP=2 PR=3 Inventory=7 Jobs=8, (Index 04) )	
	OK Help Copy to Clipboard	

- If you are still working with Crystal Reports for Peachtree Version 8, the old report functions will actually still work, so you can disregard this message. Click OK to dismiss it.
- If you have upgraded to Version 9 of Crystal Reports for Peachtree, you need to follow the steps below to replace the old report function with a new one compatible with Version 9.

## Replacing Old Report Functions in Crystal Reports for Peachtree Version 9

The Invalid Function window shown above indicates that one of the custom formulas in your report will not work in Crystal Reports for Peachtree Version 9. The reason is that one or more of the functions used to set up the formula has changed in the new version. The window in the illustration informs us that the function **GetPeachCustomFieldHeading** is not supported in Version 9 and must be replaced with the current function. The new function is marked with "v2" (**GetPeachCustomFieldHeadingv2**), indicating it is a Version 9 function.



**For more information on working with formulas and functions,** refer to the "Using Formulas" chapter of the *Crystal Reports User's Guide*. For information on custom Peachtree functions and how to use them in report formulas, look up "custom Peachtree functions (Crystal Reports)" in the Peachtree online Help index.

## Copy the New Function and Paste into the Custom Formula

- 1 You need to copy and paste a version of the current function into your custom formula. So click the **Copy to Clipboard** button to copy the function to the Windows Clipboard.
- 2 Click **OK** to dismiss the message.

- 3 In the Crystal Reports Design window, select the **Design** tab.
- 4 Select the formula for which the custom function needs replacing.
- 5 Right-click, and from the pop-up menu, select Edit Formula.

The Formula Workshop window appears showing the old function that needs to be replaced.



**6** Use the mouse pointer to highlight this function, and then press **Ctrl+V** to paste the current (Version 9) function into the custom formula.

For certain functions, you may have to enter parameters or edit the syntax of a function. In these cases, you would receive a message: "There is an error in this formula. Do you want to save it anyway." Click No, and add any necessary parameters.



**For more information on editing functions**, look up "functions, Peachtree in Crystal Reports" in your Online Help index.



- 7 When finished, select **Save** to save the formula; then select **Close**.
- 8 The Invalid Function error message may appear for additional old functions that need to be replaced. Repeat steps 1 to 4 to replace all functions that need it.

Once all old functions have been replaced, your custom report is ready to go in Crystal Reports for Peachtree Version 9.

## Linking Report Tables in Version 9

## Overview

## Peachtree Report Tables and Linking Fields

Audit Trail	<u>88</u>
Chart	<u>88</u>
Company	<u>89</u>
Cost Code	<u>89</u>
Customer	<u>89</u>
Employee	<u>89</u>
General.DAT Tables	<u>89</u>
Jobs	<u>91</u>
JrnlHdr	<u>91</u>
JrnlRow	<u>91</u>
LineItem	<u>91</u>
Raise History	<u>92</u>
Tax Authority	<u>92</u>
Tax_Code	<u>92</u>
Ticket	<u>92</u>
Vendor	<u>92</u>

## • Linking Report Tables in Crystal Reports for Peachtree Version 9 •

## Overview

If you are working with Version 9 of Crystal Reports for Peachtree, you may find that report tables do not Smart Link (autolink) exactly as they did in Version 8. This is true because some tables are no longer used, and the function of some has changed. This chapter discusses the tables used to generate Peachtree custom reports and the fields that should be used to link them.



**For more information on linking databases,** refer to the "Understanding Databases" and "Crystal SQL Designer" chapters of the *Crystal Reports User's Guide*.

## **Peachtree Report Tables and Linking Fields**

The following is a list of tables used for building Peachtree custom reports. Some do not function as they did in Version 8, so before linking tables manually in the Crystal Database Expert, be sure to consult this chapter of *Getting Started*.

The tables are listed in alphabetical order, but perhaps you'll want to look at "JrnlHdr" and "JrnlRow" first. These two tables are the two most important for report building, and all other tables must link to them before data can show up properly in reports.

#### Audit Trail

The Audit Trail table has no indexed fields, or "keys", and only one field that can link to another table. You can link the **PostOrder** field to JrnlRow or JrnlHdr.



For more information on indexed fields, look up "indexed fields" in the Crystal Reports Online Help index.

#### Chart

If your report lists some or all of the accounts your company's chart of accounts, then the Chart table will be the primary table involved. Otherwise, it will be a secondary table linked to others by the **GLAcntNumber** field.

#### Company

The Company table is not used in building reports in Version 9. In this version, special custom functions, not a table, are used to insert company information into the report.

#### Cost Code

Except in reports merely listing cost codes, this table is a secondary one. It has several indexed fields, the primary ones being **CostRecordNumber** and **CostCodeID**.

- *With JrnlRow as the primary table*, the Cost Code table links to the **CostCode** field by the **CostCodeID** field.
- *With JobEst as the pimary table*, the Cost Code table links to the **CostCode** field by the **CostRecordNumber** field.

#### Customer

Except in reports including a customer list, this table is a secondary one. The most important indexed field in the table is **CustomerRecordNumber**, which you should use to link the Customer table to primary tables (JrnlRow or JrnlHdr).

#### Employee

Except in reports including a employee list, this table is a secondary one. The most important indexed field in the table is **EmpRecordNumber**, which should be used to link the Employee table to primary tables (JrnlRow or JrnlHdr).

#### General.DAT Tables

The General.DAT file is made up of five individual tables, listed below.

#### General\_AP

This table has no indexed fields. Instead, it has a number of account record number fields that should link to the Chart tables in Chart.DAT through the **GLAcntNumber** field. The account record number fields in General\_AP will not SmartLink to this field in the Chart tables, but you can link them manually in the Database Expert.



If you want more than one account number to appear in a report, for each additional account you want to show you need to set up a separate alias of the Chart table and link to it from the General\_AP table. The illustration below shows these links to alias version s of the Chart table.





**For more information on working with aliases,** refer to the "Understanding Databases" chapter of the *Crystal Reports User's Guide*, or look up "alias" in the Crystal Reports Online Help index.

#### General\_AR

This table has no indexed fields. Instead, it has a number of account record number fields that should link to the Chart tables in Chart.DAT through the **GLAcntNumber** field. The account record number fields in General\_AR will not SmartLink to this field in the Chart tables, but you can link them manually in the Database Expert.

As with the General\_AP table, in order to show more than one account number you must set up alias versions of the Chart table and link them to the General\_AR table in the manner shown in the illustration above.

#### General\_GL

This table has no indexed fields. Instead, it has a number of account record number fields that should link to the Chart tables in Chart.DAT through the **GLAcntNumber** field. The account record number fields in General\_GL will not SmartLink to this field in the Chart tables, but you can link them manually in the Database Expert.

As with the General\_AP table, in order to show more than one account number you must set up alias versions of the Chart table and link them to the General\_GL table in the manner shown in the illustration above.

#### General\_Inv and General\_Jobs

Neither of these tables has fields that can be linked to other tables during report building.

#### **Peachtree Report Tables (Continued)**

#### Jobs

Except in reports including a list of existing jobs, this table is a secondary one. The most important indexed field in the table is **JobRecordNumber**, which should be used to link the Jobs table to primary tables (JrnlRow or JrnlHdr).

#### JrnlHdr

In some reports, the JrnlHdr can act as the primary table. If all information needed in the report is contained in the JrnlHdr table, then the JrnlRow table (usually the primary table for a report) is not needed, but JrnlHdr will link to all secondary tables.

If JrnlRow contains needed report information, then JrnlRow will be the primary table. JrnlHdr will be a secondary table linking to JrnlRow through the indexed field **PostOrder**.

#### JrnlRow

Except as noted above under "JrnlHdr," JrnlRow is always the primary table and provide core database information for report building. JrnlRow contains the raw data making up accounting transactions. In all reports that need to include transaction data (except when JrnlHdr contains all fields needed to build the report), JrnlRow will serve as primary table, and all other tables will be secondary. JrnlRow should *never* act as a secondary table.

#### LineItem

Except in reports including a list of inventory items, this table is a secondary one. The most important indexed field in the table is **ItemRecordNumber**, which you should use to link the LineItem table to primary tables (JrnlRow or JrnlHdr).

#### **Raise History**

This is a new table introduced for use with Crystal Reports for Peachtree Version 9. It is used only in Peachtree Premium Accounting payroll reports. The Raise History table should be linked only to the Employee table through the field **EmpRecordNumber**.

#### **Tax Authority**

This table has no indexed fields. In general, the table will need only to be linked to the *JrnlRow* table. In such cases, the ID field in the Tax Authority table will be linked to the **TaxAuthorityCode** field in the JrnlRow table.

#### Tax\_Code

This table has no indexed fields. In general, the table will need only to be linked to the *JrnlHdr* table. In such cases, the ID field in the Tax\_Code table will be linked to the **SalesTaxCode** field in the JrnlHdr table.

#### Ticket

This table has no indexed fields. In general, the table will need only to be linked to the Employee or Vendor table through the field **EmpVendRecordNumber**.

#### Vendor

Except in reports including a list of vendors, this table is a secondary one. The most important indexed field in the table is **VendorRecordNumber**, which should be used to link the Vendor table to primary tables (JrnlRow or JrnlHdr).

## Appendix: Filtering Report Data

## Overview

## **Filtering Reports Using Specific Fields**

The JrnlRow Table	<u>94</u>
RowNumber	<u>94</u>
RowType	<u>95</u>
Journal	<u>96</u>
The JrnlHdr Table	<u>96</u>

## **Filtering Reports to Eliminate Null Values**

Selection Formulas for Filtering Out	
Null Values	<u>97</u>
In Summary	<u>98</u>

## Appendix: Filtering Report Data

## Overview

Certain fields in the JrnlRow and JrnlHdr tables can help you filter your custom Crystal reports so that you see exactly the kind of data you want to see. In this appendix, you'll learn which fields are especially useful in this respect and how to use them as filters.

In addition, you can use certain fields to filter your reports for information you *don't* want to see—for example zero-dollar or void transactions. In order to do this, you need to edit the selection formulas for these included report fields. The appendix will tell you how to do this also.



For complete listings of the fields contained in Peachtree data (.DAT) files, look up ".DAT files" in the Peachtree online Help index.

## **Filtering Reports Using Specific Fields**

### The JrnlRow Table

Three fields in the JrnlRow table are especially useful for filtering reports: **RowNumber**, **RowType**, and **Journal**.

#### RowNumber

The **RowNumber** field is used to order transactions consistently in a report and is numbered according to the number of data elements in the individual transaction. So you could select **RowNumber** as the field to link in the JrnlRow table. You could then create a *selection formula* that would tell Crystal which specific row in the transaction to draw on. For example, your selection formula might set the value of the **RowNumber** field to zero. The zero value means that the report will draw on the "top-most row," or most basic level of information in the transaction. That translates to the dollar amount figure in most transactions, such as customer or vendor invoices.

To set the value of a field like the **RowNumber** field, you use either the Crystal Record Selection Formula Editor or Select Expert. To get to one or the other of these two windows

- **1** Open the appropriate report in the Crystal Design window.
- 2 From the **Reports** menu, choose **Selection Formulas.**
- **3** Do one of the following:

• To open the Record Selection Formula Editor, from the **Report** menu, choose **Selection Formulas** and then **Record**.

The illustration below shows the Record Selection Formula Editor as it appears for the Crystal Void Check Register report (Version 9). Notice that the value of the **RowNumber** field is set to zero. You could simply type in a new value in order to draw on other rows of data besides the top row in the transaction.



 To open the Select Expert, from the Report menu, choose Select Expert.

Again, the value of the \_\_ **RowNumber** field in the JrnIRow table is zero. To select a different row of transaction information, type in or select a new value in the drop-down list box.

Select Expert	
JmlRow:RowNumber JmlHdr.JmlKey_Journal JmlHdr.TransactionDate Jr	<u>N</u> ew <u>D</u> elete <u>B</u> rowse
OK Cancel Help Show	v Formula >>>

The **JrnlRow.RowNumber** tab shows that the **RowNumber** field is set to **0.00**. You can either type in a new value or select it from the drop-down list.

#### RowType

?

Similar to **RowNumber**, the **RowType** field has a number of valid types, including **JrnlRowType\_Normal**, which draws information from basic transactions such as invoices, credit memos, and sales orders. Beside JrnRowType\_Normal, a number of other values are available for this field; they are listed in the Peachtree online Help topic for the JrnlRow.DAT.

#### Journal

The **Journal** field is very useful since its function is to draw on information in the Peachtree journals, such as the General Journal. Below is a table of the valid values for this field and the Peachtree journals corresponding to each value.

Value	Peachtree Journal
0	General Journal
1	Cash Receipts
2	Cash Disbursements
3	Sales
4	Purchase
5	Payroll
7	Inventory Adjustments
8	Assemblies
10	Purchase Orders
11	Sales Orders
12	Quotes

Just as in the case of the **RowNumber** field above, you can set the value of the **Journal** field in either the Crystal Record Selection Formula Editor or Select Expert. For example, if you set the value of the field to three, then your custom report would draw on the Sales Journal for its information.

For instructions on setting the value of a field by creating a selection formula, see <u>"RowNumber" on page 94</u>.

#### The JrnlHdr Table

The JrnHdr table, too, has at least one field that will help you filter reports, the **TransactionDate** field. This field will let you make sure the report contains information only for a journal transaction that occurred on a specific date. As with other fields discussed above, you can change the value of the **TransactionDate** field in either the Record Selection Formula Editor or Select Expert.

## **Filtering Reports to Eliminate Null Values**

Oftentimes, you won't want your Crystal reports loaded with empty bits of information, including transaction fields for which there is no dollar total, no date, or no reference number of some sort (for example, invoice or purchase order number.) You can do this by creating special selection formulas for the fields you use to build your Crystal report.

### **Selection Formulas for Filtering Out Null Values**

**Null Dates** For example, suppose you wanted your report to filter out all sales order transactions that were lacking a ship-by date. You would set up the report to include the **ShipByDate** field from the JrnlHdr table. Then, in either the Record Selection Formula Editor or Select Expert, you would set the value of this field so that the report returned only sales orders with non-null ship-by dates. In the Record Selection Formula Editor, the **ShipByDate** field selection formula should look like this:

{JrnlHdr.ShipByDate}<>Date(0,0,0)

*The result:* The report would include a ship-by date from the original Peachtree transaction only if that date were greater or less than 0 month/0 day/0 year—in other words, non-null.

**Null Currency Amounts** Similarly, if one of your reports lists your company's inventory items, you could filter out all null occurrences of last unit cost. You would do this by including the **LastCost** field from the LineItem table and setting the value of the field so that it would return only non-null values for the field. In the Record Selection Formula Editor, the **LastCost** field selection formula should look like this:

{JrnlHdr.LastCost}<>0

*The result:* The report would include a last unit cost from the original Peachtree item record only if the cost were greater or less than zero.

**Null Strings** You can filter your reports so that transaction fields lacking information don't show up on the report. Let's say you wanted to filter your report so that a reference number would show up only if the original Peachtree transaction had a non-null entry for the number. You could do this by selecting the **Reference** field in the JrnlHdr table and setting it so that the report returned only non-null values for transaction reference numbers. In the Record Selection Formula Editor, the **Reference** field selection formula should look this:

```
{JrnlHdr.Reference} <> ""
```

*The result:* The report would include the reference number from the original Peachtree transaction only if it was not blank.

## In Summary....

To filter null Peachtree transaction records out of your Crystal reports, use the following values in your report selection formulas:

- Use **0** to filter out missing currency amounts.
- Use **Date(0,0,0)** to filter out missing dates.
- Use "" to filter out missing string values, such as transaction reference numbers.

## Index •

#### **Symbols**

.DAT files 25

#### Α

accessing standard reports 8 adding database tables to a report 26 Adobe Acrobat Reader 5 installing 5 Aged Payables report 14 Aged Receivables report 14 Align Center button 49 aligning fields 49

#### B

basics overview 2, 24, 72, 88, 94

## С

changing fonts 35, 49 charts on reports 61 Crystal Data Explorer 26 Database Expert 29, 41, 80 Design window 20 Enter Parameter Values window 83 Field Explorer 30, 42, 65 Format Editor 35 Formula Workshop 45 Link Options window 82 Report Wizard 53 Smart Linking 56 Standard Report Creation Wizard 54 Text Format window 50

Crystal reports in a network 10 limit data access 11 previewing 19, 51 standard 6, 10 standard, access 8 standard, printing 20 standard, where stored 7 write access 11 Crystal Reports for Peachtree evaluation version, installing Getting Started Guide, displaying PDF version 5 permanent version, installing 4, 5 User's Guide, displaying PDF version 5 Version 9, linking tables in 88, 89, 90, 91, 92 Version 9, standard reports 14 Version 9, upgrading to 74 custom formulas replace functions in during upgrade 85 Customer Balance Graph 15 Customer Contact List 40 Customer Detail List 15 Customer Sales by Item 16 Customer Sales by Month report 16

#### D

data dictionaries 24 data dictionary files 25 selecting 41, 55 Data Explorer 26 data source location set in upgrading 74, 75, 76 database verify during upgrade 77, 78 Database Expert 29, 41, 80 database tables linking 88, 89, 90, 91, 92 relink during upgrade 79, 80 databases selecting for reports 40 databases, selecting for reports 27 datapath, relative 73 DDFs 25 selecting 27, 41, 55 set location of in upgrading 74, 75, 76 Design window 20 designing Customer Contact List 40 Quotes Good Through List 53 displaying Crystal Reports documentation (PDF versions) 5 documentation Crystal Reports for Peachtree, displaying 5

#### E

editable versions of reports 31 editing text objects 49 Enter Parameter Values window 83 evaluation version of Crystal Reports for Peachtree 3

#### F

Field Explorer 30, 42, 65 fields aligning 49 grouping data by 58 inserting 43 inserting multiple 44 order on reports 57

#### Index Crystal Reports for Peachtree Getting Started Guide

parameter 64, 65, 66 selecting 43 to display on report 57 filtering reports 20 filtering the report 64, 65, 66 fonts changing 35, 49 Format Editor 35 Formula Workshop 45 formulas replace functions in during upgrade 85 functions replace during upgrade 84, 85

## G

Getting Started Guide displaying PDF version 5 grand totals 59 grouping data by field 58 groups sorting based on summarized totals 60

## I

indexed fields 89, 91, 92 inserting fields 43 multiple fields 44 text objects 36, 48 installing Adobe Acrobat Reader 5 evaluation version of Crystal Reports 3 permanent version of Crystal Reports 4, 5 Inventory Labels 16 modify 33 Items Sold by Month report 17

#### J

join types 72

L limit data access 11 Link Options window 82 link types reset during upgrade 82 linking database tables 26, 29, 72, 79, 80 linking database tables 88, 89, 90, 91, 92 links 25, 80 delete unneeded during upgrade 83

#### Μ

Maintain Users limit data access 11 map fields during upgrade 78

### Ν

network 10 No printer check box 21

### 0

object frames 44

#### Ρ

parameter fields 64, 65, 66, 83 parameter values set new 83 PDF versions of Crystal Reports documentation, displaying 5 Peachtree Maintain Users 11 upgrading to Release 2004 74,77 permanent version of Crystal Reports for Peachtree 4, 5 Preview tab 20, 51 previewing Crystal reports 19 reports 51 price tags 33

Print Preview 51 printer setup 21 printing standard Crystal reports 20 Purchases by Unit Price 17

#### Q

Quotes Good Through List 53

#### R

read-only versions of reports 31 record selection in reports 61 Refresh button 51, 83 relative datapath 73 report functions replace during upgrade 84, 85 Report Wizard 53 Grouping window 58 Links window 56 reports charts 61 filter 20 filtering 64, 65, 66 grand totals 59 in a network 10 limit data access 11 making editable versions of 31 previewing 19, 51 sections 34 selecting databases 40 standard 6, 10, 14 standard, access 8 standard, where stored 7 summaries 59 write access 11 **REPORTS.ZIP 7** 

#### S

Save As 31 Save data with report option 19 sections report 34

selecting databases for reports 40 DDFs 41, 55 fields 43 setting relative datapath 73 setting up printer 21 Smart Link 88 Smart Linking 29, 56 sorting groups based on summarized totals 60 Standard Report Creation Wizard 54 Chart window 61 Group Sorting window 60 Record Selection window 61 Summaries window 59 standard reports See also reports, Crystal reports 6

User's Manual displaying PDF version 5

#### V

Vendor Balance Graph 18 Vendor Detail List 18 Version 9 upgrading to 74 Void Check Register 19

#### W

write access 11

summaries on reports 59, 60

## Т

tables 25 relink during upgrade 80 Text Format window 50 text objects editing 49 inserting 36, 48

#### U

unmapped fields 78 upgrading delete unneeded links 83 map unmapped fields 78 relink database tables 79, 80 replace report functions 84, 85 reset link type 82 set data source location 74, 75,76 set new parameter values 83 to Crystal Reports for Peachtree Version 974 to Peachtree 2004 74, 77 verify database 77, 78